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The Hennepin Canal traverses the divide between the Illinois and Miss-
issippi Rivers. The right-of-way for the Canal's main line is at least 300
feet wide for its entire length. It leaves the Illinois River about two miles
upstream from the town of Hennepin, Illinois, at a point known as the Great
Bend where the river turns from a westerly course to run almost due south.
From its junction with the Illinois, the right-of-way proceeds northwesterly
61.8 miles until it reaches the Rock River near the mouth of the Green River.
From there the main line of the canal flows in the Rock River channel for
8.5 miles. At Milan, Illinois (70.3 miles from the Illinois River), the right-
of-way begins again ‘and proceeds southwest, meeting the Mississippi River
about three miles downstream from Rock Island, Illinois (75.2 miles from the
Illinois River). The right-of-way for the canal's feeder line is also at
least 300 feet wide for its entire length. Its northern terminus is the Rock
River just east of Rock Falls, Illinois, and opposite Sterling, Illinois.
From this point the feeder line's right-of-way proceeds almost due south for
29.3 miles. Its southern terminus is at the mainline's right-of-way in its
twenty-eighth mile from the Illinois River. The total length of the right-
of-way is 96 miles.

The Hennepin Canal Historic District is 89.8 miles of this right-of-way:
the 60.5 mile portion of the main line from a point 1.3 miles from the I1lli-
nois River to 61.8 miles from the Illinois (the entrance to the Rock River
channel) and all 29.3 miles of the feeder line. The Historic District includes !
approximately 2,329 acres of righ=of-way. Its boundaries, except for dimin-
ished length, are those established by the United States Army Corps of En-
gineers' land acquisition from 1891 to 1906.

The canal prism, both main line and feeder, has side slopes which are
two feet horizontal to one foot verticle. It is fifty-two feet wide at its
pottom and eighty feet wide at water line. There are turnouts every four or
five miles and the canal is wider above and below locks. Thus, it is up to
1,000 feet wide in places. The depth of the water was originally seven feet.
The Corps of Engineers reduced pool elevations to five feet in 1951. The
Illinois Department of Conservation currently attempts to keep the water at
a maximum five feet depth throughout the Historic District. Overall, this
89.8 miles of canal prism is in good condition.

The side slopes of the canal prism are rip-rapped at water level to pro-
tect the sides from wave-wash. This rip-rap is natural stone. Much of it is
still in place within the area being nominated and is in fair condition.
There are three types of prism construction represented in the Historic Dis-
trict. Some portions of the prism have been: 1) completely excavated. Here
the canal is carried entirely below the natural surface of‘the’ground. In
general, these sections are on the western end of the main line (28.9 to 61.8
miles from the Illinois River) and are in good condition.
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2)partly excavated and partly embanked. They are predominant in the main
line's eastern end ( 1.3 to 17.4 miles from the Illinois River) and are in
fair condition. 3) entirely embanked. They include all 29.3 miles of the
feeder and 17.4 to 28.9 miles from the Illinois on the main line and are
in good condition.

Where the canal is partly excavated and partly embankment, the banks are
eight feet wide on the top. Where the canal is entirely embankment, the
banks are ten feet wide on the top. Where it is entirely excavated, a tow
path sixteen feet wide is excavated at one side, two and a half feet above
the water, providing a continuous path so that boats might be towed by ani-
mals if necessary or desired (although this was never done). The tow path
still runs the entire length of the nominated are. However, between 18.5
miles from the Illinois River and twenty-three miles from the Illinois River
on the main line the surface has been changed. Since 1970, the grass on this
4.5 miles of tow path has been replaced by a gravel surface eight feet wide.
This section is kept in excellent condition. The tow path has also been
modified where bridges have been replaced by earthen embankments through
which culverts now carry the water. Here the tow path goes through these
embankments via nine-foot corrugated metal plate pipe culverts placed above
the water surface. The rest of the tow path, although it retains its his-
torical character, varies in condition from excellent to fair depending on
the amount of vehicular use.

The water for the canal is drawn from the Rock River at the northern
terminus of the feeder line. A movable dam was constructed across the
Rock River between Rock Falls and Sterling, Illinois. In high water periods,
its manually operated tainter gates (now replaced) provided flood discharge
as high as 40,000 cubic feet per second while maintaining the water at a
level needed for the canal. 1In dry times, the water level is still raised
by flashboards placed by hand on the top of the dam. There was also a navi-
gation lock in the dam.

The first known renovation work on this dam was in 1948 when the Corps
of Engineers put a new concrete floor in the apron of the dam on the up-
stream side. They did the same thing to the downstream apron in 1965. Also
in the 1960's, the Corps of Engineers replaced the hand-operated tainter
gates with new gates and electric hoists and removed the gates and machinery
from the navigation lock, replacing the upper gates with a concrete headwall.
In the 1970's, the private hydro-electric plant which had owned and operated

the six gates closest to the Sterling side of the dam was abandoned; this
closing has modified dam operations in that the same volumne of water must be

handled with six fewer control gates. The dam, however, appears as it did
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in 1907, the year of its construction. It still provides flood control for
the Rock River as well as maintaining the water level necessary for the canal.
It is operated by the Illinois Department of Transportation, Division of
Waterways. The dam is also included in the Historic District.

The dam across the Rock River between Rock Falls and Sterling, Illinois,
forms a 2,400 acre pool in the river. This pool, known as Lake Sinnissippi,
is the actual reservoir for the canal, but is not included in the Historic
pistrict.

The feeder line of the Hennepin Canal runs almost due south from Lake
Sinnissippi through level prarie land. It has a fall of only 2.3 feet
in its entire 29.3 mile length and, therefore, stands above the surrounding
farm land. Except for the first half mile, which is excavated from solid
rock, the canal prism of the feeder line is almost entirely embankment.
Consequently, although the feeder will carry about 300 feet of water per
second, a freshet from the Rock River could damage the feeder and mainline.
To prevent such damage, a guard lock and control works were constructed at
the junction of the feeder line and Lake Sinnissippi ( the head of the feed-
er) .

The Corps of Engineers restored the guard lock, K to operating condition
in the 1960's. Because the guard lock is typical in many respects of all
locks on the Hennepin Canal, it will be described in some detail. Others
will be described only in so far as they are different from this lock. The
guard lock's lock chamber is 170 feet long and thirty-five feet wide. The
lock has a solid rock foundation leveled with concrete; its superstructure
is made entirely of concrete. The lock walls are 240 feet long. They are
four feet wide at the top and the bottom is about forty-five per-cent of
the height of the wall. The lowerends of the walls are stepped down and
connected with wing walls; the back of the wall has two steps in it. A
water level guage is etched into the concrete of the lock wall. Concrete
snub posts rest on its top. The lock is manually operated. It is filled
by means of two tunnels, one in each lock wall. At the head of each tunnel
is a butterfly valve which is operated from the top of the wall by a hand
wheel. The lower (downstream) gates are of the ordinary mitre type, placed
at an angle of 70°30' with the center line of the lock and were originally
built of yellow pine timbers. The butterfly valves for emptying the locks
are located in the bottoms of these lower gates. They are of the same de-
sign as the valves for filling the lock but are smaller. The emptying valves
are operated from the top of the gates by levers. Except for the valve open-
ings, the bottoms of the gates are solid sixteen inch thick timbers. The
upper timbers, where the pressure is less, are fourteen inches thick with
six to thirty inch openings left between them, the heel and toe being filled
in with short timbers about four feet long. This part of the gate is sheath-
ed with 3x8 matched timbers. The gates shut against a mitre sill which is
anchored into the foundation. The lower gates are operated by a special form
of hand-powered crabs, or manuvering gears, on the tops of the walls. The
upper gates at the guard lock are identical to the lower mitre type gates ex-
cept that they do not have the butterfly valves for emptying the lock chamber.

There is a sluiceway adjacent to the lcok. The two tainter gates fed
over 100 cubic feet of water per second into the canal with the original
seven foot depth. They still feed the canal, but with diminished flowage.
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The feeder line of the canal meets the main line in its twenty-eighth
mile from the Illinois River. The twenty-eighth mile of the main line is

on the summit level of the canal. The summit level extends eleven miles
from 17.4 to 28.9 miles from the Illinois River. It, like the feeder line,
traverses level prarie and is unbroken by locks. Together the feeder line
and the summit level of the main line form forty miles of unbroken canal
containing, when completely filled, 100,000,000 cubic feet of water. 1In
both sections the canal is carried, for the most part, above the natural
surface of the ground; therefore, a break in any part of this forty miles
would allow almost all of the water to escape into the surrounding country-
side. Consequently, two emergency gates, which could be closed quickly to
minimize the amount of water that would escape, were constructed. One set
of these emergency gates —-- ordinary mitering gates —-- were on the summit
level of the main line twenty-three miles from the Illinois River. These
wooden gates have been removed but their concrete superstructure remains in
fair condition. The other emergency gate is of the Des Fontains type, a
single gate extending from one wall of the aqueduct to the other, made to
raise and lower on a horizontal axis using principles of buoyancy in its op-
eration. The Des Fontains gate was operated with the current by means of
chains on the upstream side of the gate. 1In its normal open position, the
gate rests underwater on the floor of the aqueduct. The Des Fontains gate
was placed at the end of Aqueduct 9 crossing the Green River on the feeder
line of the canal 23.1 miles from the Rock River.

From the junction of the feeder line and the main line of the canal, the
water which has traveled down the feeder flows southwest towards the Miss-
issippi River and southeast towards the Illinois River. From the summit
level the main canal descends ninety-three feet in forty-six miles southwest
to the Mississippi River and 196 feet in eighteen miles southeast to the
Illinois River. Flowing down from the junction of the feeder line and the
main line, the water which supplies the successive levels of the canal is
carried from the upper end of each lock over a spillway to the lower end.
The spillways are cast iron pipes laid behind the lock walls and vary in
size from forty-eight inches at the summit level to eighteen inches at the
lower end. For a distance of forty feet above and below the locks, the
banks on the eastern end of the main line are paved with rubble and with
concrete on its western end.

The bottom end of each spillway pipe is also paved with concrete. The

bottom of the canal immediately downstream from the lower gates are paved
with rip-rap. All of this equipment remains in excellent condition in the

Historic District, except for the bank and bottom paving, which varies from
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excellent to deteriorated.

There are thirty-two locks on the main line in addition to the dam's
navigation lock and the guard lock at the head of the feeder. Their lifts vary
from eight to twelve feet. The locks are known by number: Lock 1 is at the
junction of the main line and the Illinois River and Lock 32 at the junction
of the main line and the Mississippi River. Thirty-one of these locks are
still visable. (Lock 1 has been under the Illinois River for over fifty
years.) Twenty-eight of these thirty-one visible locks (Locks 2-29) are
included in the Historic District. All twenty-eight of the lock chambers are
the same size: 170 feet long and thirty-five feet wide.

The foundations are either excavated in solid rock to the proper grade
and leveled up with concrete or made of concrete filled grillage resting on
piles. Within the Historic District, however, the only rock foundation lock
on the main line is Lock 28. The other twenty—-seven locks rest on grillage.
For those locks six rows of piles were driven the entire length of the foun-
dation and two additional rows were driven under the lock floors. Additional
piles were driven for the mitre walls and a clump of six piles were driven
under the heel of each of the lock gates. The piles were cut off and capped
with 10x10 timbers drift bolted to the piles. Transverse timbers 10x10 or
8x10 were drift bolted to the longitudinal timbers, the spaces being filled
with natural cement concrete. The floors of the lock chambers are planked
with two inch pine. Just below the mitre wall on the upper gates, there is
a line of eight-inch tile laid in gravel underneath and across the founda-
tion to guard against a head of water on the under side of the foundation.
This tile connects with strings of tile laid back of the lock walls at the
foundation level; these tiles in turn drain into the lock below the lower
gates. All these foundations remain in good condition; the floors, however,
leak. None was modified or repaired in any lock renovation or modification.

The superstructures of the locks are made entirely of concrete. The
lock walls are exactly like those on the guard lock described above except
that the backs of some of the lock walls are battered instead of being step-
ped. All the lock walls in Locks 2-29 are in excellent condition. 1In the
1960's the Corps of Engineers patched the walls and replaced any deterior-
ated cement.

The lower gates of all the locks on the Hennepin Canal are mitering gates
as described above in relation to the guard lock. Only four lower mitering
gates on the main line are in operating condition: Locks 16, 22, 23 and 24.
The Corps of Engineers rebuilt and restored their lower gates to operating
condition between 1961 and 1965.

Eighteen of the locks on the main line originally had ordinary mitre
type upper gates. Fourteen of these locks are included in the Historic Dis-
trict: Locks 2-7 and 22-29. These gates are identical to the upper gates at
the guard lock. The Corps of Engineers restored the upper mitre gates of
three locks on the main line, Locks 22, 23 and 24, to operating condition
between 1961 and 1965. All three had their lower gates rebuilt as well.

The other eleven locks with both upper and lower mitre gates were modi-
fied in the same renovation project. At Locks 2,3,5,6,7,25,26,28 and 29,
the old gates and machinery were removed from the upper end and replaced by
a concrete breastwall to maintain a five-foot depth of water. This is effect

turned the locks into spillways with waterfalls at their upstream ends. Be-
cause Locks 27 and 4 abutted aqueducts taken out of service, they were not
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modified in the same way as were other locks with both upper and lower mitre
type gates. Full walls had to be placed at the upper end of the lock cham-
bers to replace the removed gates. Water now enters both locks from the up-
per pool via syphon.

Fourteen of the locks on the main line (Locks 8-21) originally had Mar-
shall gates at their upper ends. All fourteen of these are included in the
Historic District. Marshall gates are unique to the Hennepin Canal. They
were designed by Major W.L..-Marshall, U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, who was
the officer in charge 6f the canal's construction. The gate is a single gate
extending from one wall to the other and is made to raise and lower on a hor-
izontal axis. The middle third of the gate has a leaf extending out from the
axis at right angles to the main part of the gate. The leaf operates in a
water tight chamber. This chamber is connected to the lower pool through
spillway pipe. To open the gate, a valve is opened in the pipe which, due to
the difference of elevation of the pools, makes a pressure on the leaf. When
the levels on the two sides of the gate become nearly equal, the pressure on
the leaf causes the gate to sink below the level of the sill. To shut the
gate, the valve is closed and the gate raises and closes from its own buoy-
ancy. -

Only one Marshall gate has been restored to operating condition, the
upper gate at Lock 16. The Corps of Engineers did this at the same time that
it rehabilitated the lock's lower mitre gate in the 1960's. Thus, Lock 16 is
the only lock which has both an upper Marshall gate and a lower mitre gate in
operating condition. The Corps of Engineers also modified the other thirteen
locks with upper Marshall gates in the 1960's. As was the case for locks
with both upper and lower mitre gates, in most cases the upper Marshall gate
and old machinery were removed and a concrete breastwall put in at the upper
end of each lock chamber to maintain a five-foot depth of water: Locks 8-11,
13-15 and 17-21. Only in Lock 12 was the Marshall gate replaced with a full
wall. Lock 12, like Locks 4 and 27, abutted an agqueduct which had been taken
out of service. :

The Hennepin Canal originally crossed waterways at nine places by means of
agqueduct bridges varying in length from four to ten thirty-five foot spans.
The designs for these aqueducts were almost identical. The piers and abut -
ments stand on concrete filled grillage resting on piles similar to those used
for lock foundations, except at Aqueduct 8 where the main line crossed the
Green River - its foundation was on shale rock. The piers are seventy-eight
feet long, four feet wide on top, six feet wide at the foundation and from
nineteen to 25.5 feet high. On the upstream side, the piers are battered

" and brought to an edge to form ice breakers. The top masonry is two feet
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above the original seven foot water level of the canal. Openings forty-four
feet four inches wide through the centers of the piers receive the troughs
of the aqueducts. The concrete around the opening is relnforced by two hor-
1zontal steel rods and two vertlcle rods on each side. - ;

-

The”troughs have a clear width, inside of walling timbers, of thirty-nine
feet six inches, and are made of structural steel with a reinforced concrete
lining. There are nineteen twenty inch I-beams spaced two feet three inches,
center to center, in each floor; in each side are two I-beams of the same
size spaced about six feet, riveted and connected with channels and rods to
form trusses. The floors are six inches thick, extending two inches below
the top floor beams. They are reinforced with a 2.5 inch bar laid in each
space between adjacent floor beams and the same sized bars laid crosswise and
spaced six inches throughout the length of each span. The linings of the -
sides are nine inches thick, reinforced with .25 inch bars spaced six inches
apart, extending from the top of the wall into the floor lining, bent so
that they lap about two feet by the rods in the floor. Fenders made of two
12x12 timbers, belted together, are anchored to the inside of the piers to
protect the lining. ;

The approaches to the agqueducts are paved with rubble or concrete, splay-
ing from the wall of the abutment to the earthwork slope of the embankment
(a distance of about forty feet). The abutments have wing walls at a slight
angle to the face fo the masonry. A towpath bridge is carried over the agque-
duct to connect with the towpath on the abutment. Small needle dams which
could be lowered below the bottom grade of the canal were at each end of the
aqueducts and flap valves were set in the masonry to allow the agueduct to
fill to the outside under water level, thus protecting the aqueduct at times
of high water.

All nine of the aqueduct sites are in the Historic District. However,
tthe Corps of Engineers took Aqueducts 1, 2 and 8 on the main line out of
service in the 1960's. They have been replaced by thrity-six inch round in-
verted syphons which carry the water under the ground beneath the waterway
intersecting the canal. The waterway which intersects the path of the canal
now flows freely and the stretch of the canal crossing it is hidden from
view. At Aqueducts 1 and 2, new concrete towpath bridges have been construc-
ted along the lines followed by the old aqueduct spans. The other six aque-
ducts remain in good to excellent condition and are still in operation. 1In
the 1960's the Corps of Engineers relined and patched the aqueducts and re-
moved the needle dams. :

Smaller waterways, such as creeks, streams, and drainage facilities, are
accomodated along both the main line and the feeder line by culverts. Origi-
nally, the culverts were nearly all the inverted syphon type placed from
twelve to eighteen inches below the bottom grade of the canal. Twenty-six
were concrete arch culverts and thirty-eight were pipe culverts. The arch
culverts are of two sizes: ten feet wide and five feet nine inches high, and
twelve feet wide and six feet:two inches high. The concrete is seventeen
inches thick over the crown and the abutment walls are four feet thick. 1In
several places there are double arches. The foundations are similar to those
used in the locks. A ten foot culvert has a foundation nearly 150 feet long
and twenty feet wide, not including the area under the wings of the head
walls. The pipe culverts, either double or single lines, are made of thirty-
six inch and forty-eight inch cast iron pipe, leaded together. They rest on



Form No. 10-300a

(Rev. 10-74)
UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR FOR NPS USE ONLY
NATIONAL PARK SERVICE i &
secevep NOV 141072
NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES MAY 22 1978
INVENTORY -- NOMINATION FORM DATE ENTERED e
Hennepin Canal
CONTINUATION SHEET Description ITEM NUMBER 7 PAGE Eight

a foundation of concrete one foot thick and are encased in concrete for half
their thickness. The headwalls and slope paving are rubble stone.

Within the Historic District, there are twenty-five arch culverts and all
thirty-eight pipe culverts. The Corps of Engineers undertook a culvert re-
habilitation project in the 1960's, in which many arch culverts were renova-
ted, repaired or replaced. The pipe culverts required much less work; most
of the work was limited to the rebuilding of headwalls and repair of abut-
ments and foundations. All of the culverts are in fair condition now.

To flush fourteen of the canal's culverts, there are fourteen flush ducts
to allow water to be admitted into the culvert from the canal. An opening
in the side of the canal leads into a well which connects with the culvert.
This sluiceway was closed with a steel cylindrical gate hinged to the back
of the well. To flush the culvert, the upper end of the culvert is tempor-
arily closed and the sluice gate raised. There are thirteen flush ducts in
the Historic District. 1In the 1960's, the Corps of Engineers modified all of
them. Ten now have concrete breastwalls in place of the steel sluice gates;
they are in excellent condition but are inoperable. Three have had the slu-
ice gates removed and boards now cover the sluiceway; they are in good condi-
tion and are in use.

Numerous roads cross the Hennepin Canal. Highway bridges are numbered
from the Illinois River west to the Mississippi, then down the feeder from
north to south. However, since bridges, unlike locks, were added from time
to time in the past seventy years, the numbering system is less regular than
that for locks. The Historic District includes fifty-one bridge sites on the
main line and twenty-five on the feeder; a total of seventy-six bridge sites.
Only forty-two of these sites reflect the historic character of the Hennepin
Canal.

Bridges built during the construction of the canal itse€lf are generally
of the fixed span type. They are set at right angles to the axis of the
canal regardless of the alignment of the road crossed. As a result, many of
the approach alighments are curved, if not skewed. On the main line, bridges
have a clearance of seventeen feet over the original water level. The abut-
ments are built of concrete generally resting on a concrete foundation. Many
of the approaches are finished with stonework. Under the original plan, the
first bridges built across the main line had pony Warren truss type super-
structures. The spans are ninety-eight feet long and the plank decks are
fourteen feet wide (twelve feet of clear roadway). Three bridges of this
type are known to have been constructed. One of these, Bridge 4, remains in
the Historic District. It is in fair condition although thére are several
horizontal cracks on the abutment faces; the structural steel is uniformly
rusted and the grillage foundation is leaning slightly away from the canal.
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Later, the plan was changed and through Riverbed Pratt truss bridges
were built across the main line. These, too, have ninety-eight feet spans
and plank decks that are fourteen feet wide. Four bridges are known to have
fit these specifications. Three of them, Bridges 7,8 and 9, remain within
the Historic District. They are in fair condition. The abutments on 7 and
8 are nearly plumb and the load rating is not controlled on any of the three
by the weakness of the abutments. The structural steel is covered with rust
and minor pitting. Many of the bridges which had ninety-eight foot through
Riverbed Pratt truss superstructures were wider than fourteen feet. Three
which were in the Historic District are known to have been eighteen feet wide.
One of these, Bridge 18, remains standing. It differs from the norm, however,
in that it has a concrete deck. It is in fair to deteriorated condition. The
concrete deck needs repair and some rivets should be replaced.

The most common bridge on the main line, was the Pratt truss superstruc-—
ture with a 110 foot span. There were twenty-five through Riverbed Pratt
truss bridges with 110 foot spans across the main line in the Historic Dis-
trict alone. Seventeen of these had plank decks eighteen feet wide; eleven
remain standing ( Bridges 13,15, 18A,21,24,25,27,30,31,33 and 35). In gen-
eral, these structures are in fair condition. The concrete abutments are gen-
erally in good condition, though often slightly out of alignment. The steel
superstructure is generally sound although the lower portal chord angles have
in several cases been damaged by errosion and one or two connection rivets
are missing on several of the structures. One bridge, 14, is identical to
those described above except that it is only seventeen feet wide. It is in
similar condition. Five other bridges were identical to those described
above but had concrete, rather than plank, decks. Four of these remain in
similar condition: Bridges 20,29,34 and 37. Two (Bridges 38 and 39) fit the
general specifications except that their concrete decks are only sixteen feet
wide; they are in fair condition.

Another bridge style which is repeated over the main line is the through
girder lift bridge with a forty foot span. Three of these were originally
constructed. Two, Bridges 10A and 40, still have plank decks though of dif-
ferent widths: Bridge 10A is twelve feet wide and Bridge 40 is eighteen feet
wide. Bridge 19, the third through girder lift bridge, is also within the
historic district. It, however, has a concrete deck sixteen feet wide. All
are in good condition and open to traffic but not operable as vertical lift
bridges. '

The other movable bridge remaining in the Historic District is a retrac-
table deck girder bridge with a fifty-four foot span across the lock chamber
at Lock 2. It has a plywood deck. It rests on the walls of Lock 2 and re-
tracts to the north bank. The structure is not safe for vehicular traffic
and is restricted to pedestrians. It is in good condition.

The bridges over the feeder clearithe wateriby' twelvel feetrrather'than! by
seventeen feet. Generally, they are also of a different style than on the
main line, although five are known to have been originally through Riverbed
Pratt truss superstructures. Two of these ( Bridges 47 and 49) remain stand-
ing in fair condition. They have ninety-eight foot spans and concrete decks
sixteen feet wide. '

The majority of bridges on the feeder canal are pony Warren truss type
superstructures resting on four concrete pedestal pillars. The main span is
seventy-five feet long and is supplemented by two I-beams, twenty-one feet

long, serving as approach spans. Eight of the bridges over the feeder canal
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(Bridges 55, 57, 58, 60, 61, 62, 63 and 64) are of this style with plank
decks sixteen feet wide. All remain standing and in use although in most
cases the pedestal piers need repair, as do the concrete gravity abutments
supporting the approach spans. The condition of the structural steel on the
pony Warren trusses is smilar to that found on the through trusses.

Five other bridges on the feeder line were of the same stlye but had con-
crete decks. Four of these bridges remain: Bridges 51, 52, 53, and 54.
Their condition is similar to that of the other pony Warren truss bridges on
the feeder line. ; :

In addition to roads, railroads also cross the Hennepin Canal. Within
the Historic District, the canal is crossed by four different branches of
the Chicago, Burlington and Quincy Railroad; by the main line of the Chicago,
‘Rock Island and Pacific Railroad at three different points; and once by the
South Pekin Line of the Chicago and Northwestern Railway. Most of the rail-
road bridges constructed by the Corps of Engineers in conjunction with canal
construction are platt girder bridges. Although the length of the main span
varies (Bridge 4 - 63.5 feet; Bridge 5 - eight feet nine inches; Bridge 7 -
97.2 feet; and Bridge 8 - 86.2 feet), the styles are near'y identical. Two
bridges (Bridges 1' and 2) are of the Platt girder style but have the modi-
fication of approach spans. Theronly real deviation in style that the Corps
of Engineers made was in railroad Bridge 3. It is a deck girder bridge with
twin decks. The floor of the bridge is formed by reinforced concrete sup-
ported upon the stringers of the bridge and the track ballasted over the
bridge. (Bridge 5 - a Platt girder bridge - has a similar floor).

The Corps of Engineers did not construct the eighth railroad bridge in
the Historic District. The Chicago and Northwestern Railroad built its South
Pekin Line after the right-of-way for the canal had been purchased but be-
fore construction was complete. As a result, the railroad put up its own
bridge, a through Riverbed Truss superstructure with a single track deck.

For purposes of administration, the Hennepin Canal was originally divi-
ded into sub-sections, each in the charge of an overseer. These sections
varied from four to twelve miles in length. The Corps of Engineers provided
a house for each overseer in his section of the canal; a total of fourteen
houses were at one time overseer's houses, thirteen built by the Corps of
Engineers specifically for the project. (The house not built by the Corps
of Engineers is no longer within the Historic District.) Except for those
situated at locks, these houses are identifiedon the main line by the mile
from the Illinois River and on the feeder line by the mile from the Rock
River. Seven of the overseers' houses were of a common design: two-storied

frame houses with eight rooms on a foundation twenty-four feet wide and
thirty feet long. Three of these remain standing on their original sites
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within the right-of-way: Mile 26 (25.2 miles from the Illinois River on the
main line), Mile 18 (17.2 miles from the Illinois River on the main line) and
Mile 23 (22.8 miles from the Rock River on the feeder line). A fourth over-
seer's house of this design stands on Hennepin Canal State Parkway property
adjacent to its original site on the right-of-way. The Overseer's house
known as Mile 15 (14.4 miles from the Illinois River on the main line) was
moved in the 1950's. Two of the houses, Mile 26 and Mile 15, have been lived
in continuously since they were constructed; consequently, deterioration has
been kept to a minimum. Neither house has undergone major remodeling. Mile
18 and Mile 23 have been vacant since the 1960's, but stabilization measures
have been taken. They are more deteriorated than the other two, but they

are still structurally sound.

The Corps of Engineers constructed six other overseers' houses but they
were not of this common design. Two of these individually designed houses
remain on the canal right=of-way; Lock 19 (16.1 miles from the Illinois
River on the main line) and the Guard Lock (0 miles from the Rock River on
the feeder line). There were several maintenance facilities located at Lock
19 (for example, a warehouse, an office building and an ice house) and it is
probable that this house was intended for an overseer with more authority or
responsibility than most. Where overseer's houses differ from the common
plan, this seems to have been the case. Such a distinction is clearly the
case for the residence at the head of the feeder line. This overseer, in
addition to his general responsibilities, controlled the operation and regu-
lation of the dam across the Rock River and the amount of flow into the canal.
The house was also the residence of the engineer in charge of the whole canal
operation in the earliest years of navigation and has been lived in continu-
ously since it was constructed. No major remodeling has been done, although
some superficial repairs are needed. The overseer house at Lock 19 has been
vacant since the 1960's. Stabilization measures have been taken and it re-
mains structurally sound.

Each overseer had under him lockmen or patrolmen (or both) and through
the summer season, a hired labor force. The Corps of Engineers provided
houses for the lockmen and patrolmen; thirty-eight houses in all. As with
the overseers' houses, these houses were generally of common design. Thirty
lockmaq/patrolman houses were identical two story frame houses with gambrel
roofs, containing seven rooms on a foundation twenty-two feet wide and twen-
ty eight feet long. One of these, the patrolman's house at the guard lock
(0.1 miles from the Rock'River on the feeder line), remains standing. One
lockman/batrolman house was of identical design but built of concrete: Mile
20 (twenty miles from the Rock River on the feeder line). 1It, too, remains.
Both of these patrolman/lockman houses have been vacant since the 1960's.
Stabilization measures have been taken, and the structures remain relatively
solid. The other seven lockman/patrolman houses, none of which are still
standing within the Historic District, were built to individual specifica-
tions or, in some, cases, acquired already built and then modified for canal
use.

In addition to the houses, the Corps of Engineers constructed barns and
equipment sheds adjacent to the residences. Most of these buildings were
frame of varying styles. Three support building complexes remain in the His-
toric District: adjacent to the overseers' houses at the guard lock, Lock 19,
and Mile 26. The buildings in these complexes are in generally good condi-

tion, although some minor repairs are needed. Several other support buildings
remain standing in isolated locations. Their conditions are generally poorer
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than those in the complexes, but still can be classified as fair. Some of
the maintenance buildings were built of concrete and several of these, too,
remain standing in fair to good condition.

The Corps of Engineers also constructed general purpose warehouses and
workshops along the right-of-way. At least two warehouses, one on the main
line at Lock 19 and one at the head of the feeder, are still in use. Several
shops, such as the repair shop at the guard lock and the blacksmith shop at
Mile 26, are still standing in good condition, though minus some tools and
equipment. Some buildings, such as the ice houses and the post factory, were
specifically designed for special functions. The post factory remains, though
in deteriorated condition.

The Corps of Engineers also constructed service facilities for the traffic
on the canal. The best example is the boat repair facility or boat "ways" on
the summit level of the main line (17.7 miles from the Illinois River). Al-
though in a deteriorated condition, the "ways" are part of the Historic Dis-
trict.

All of the Hennepin Canal right-of-way, both main line and feeder line,
was bounded by four-strand wire fence strung on concrete fence posts specially
constructed by the Corps of Engineers' staff at the Post House. Each post
weighs 165 pounds. Many of these fence posts are still in use along the peri-
meters of the canal property and as internal fencing.

A telephone communications system was constructed along the entire length
of the main line and the feeder line so that lockmen could be advised in ad-
vance when a boat was coming through for lockage. This system involved the
setting of specially made concrete telephone poles along the entire waterway.
Each pole constructed at the Post House weighed 750 pounds. Many of them are
still standing along the right-of-way in the Historic District of the Henne-
pin Canal.

The Department of Conservation has designated a portion of the Historic
District to be maintained and developed as an interpretive area. That area
is on the main line 13.8 to 17.9 miles from the Illinois River. It includes
the entire right-of-way and contains 4.1 miles of canal prism and tow path.
There are seven locks (Locks 15-21)with upper Marshall gates in the interpre-
tive area as well as one aqueduct (Aqueduct 3), four highway bridges (one
original ninety-eight feet through Riverbed Pratt Truss, one original lift
bridge, and two replacement bridges), and one railfoad bridge (Bridge 3).

There are also eight house sites in the area. Of those, three are overseers'
houses: two, Lock 19 and Mile 20, are still standing on their original loca-

tions; the third, Lock 17, is on Park property near its original site. The
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other five sites were originally occupied by patrolman/ lockman houses; four
of these were of the common pattern and one was built to unique specifications
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE ) . j :
A glance at the Hennepin Canal gives the concept canal meaning. It is

not a dry ditch; water still flows in it, Because . of its small size, rural
setting, and tranquil atmosphere, it requires llttle 1mag1natlon to expect a
packetboat to appear and enter a still operable lock. The illusion is possi-
ble because the Hennepin Canal, unlike so many American historic canals, is
virturally intact. Because the canal has such a strong visual impact, its
history and technology are not just academic curiosities.

The Hennepin is not only a visually recognizable model of all canals, it
is specifically representative of American canals between the mid-nineteenth
and mid-twentieth centuries. It is not characteristic of any specific time in
that century long span, but includes elements from each phase of canal history
within the period. For example, though the canal was built between 1890 and
1907, its size is anachronistic, reflecting national patterns of the 1860's.
On the other hand, its engineering and technology reflect the first few dec-
ades of the twentieth century. Likewise, it combines the national trends of
a century in commerce, transportation, economics. ,

Although the Hennepin is a composite canal, it is simultaneously a micro-
cosm. The canal's genesis lies in the Great Canal Era of the 1830's, but its
planning and construction were influenced by the rise of railroads as compet-
itors to water transportation itself.

Paradoxically, its composite nature, while giving 1t significance as
representative of a larger category, also makes it unique.’ Some of its tech-
nical features had never been employed before. Some were never employed again;
others were modified because of this experimental use.

The canal's history demonstrates the existence, unity and nature of Amer-
ica's inland waterway system, so essential to the nation's westward expansion
and its commercial and industrial growth. That the canal was always the wrong
size--first too large, then too small--for the whole system draws attention
to the system itself and to the necessary relationship between individual
waterways in both planning and operation.

Its history is also a case study in the economic development of Illinois.
Because the canal was a component in more than a century of schemes--land pro-
motion; farming; commerce; industry; transportation--it sheds light on all of
them. The canal's history also offers insight into the state's politiecs. It

was a political football for

roups fr
Environmentalists of the 1960g i om the Long Nine of the 1830's to the
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l)Commerce: The Hennepin Canal is important commercially because the
direct link it opened between the Great Lakes at Chicago and the Upper Miss-
issippi Valley was 419 miles shorter than existing through water routes.

2) Economics: The Hennepin Canal is also of consequence in economics
because without it neither the coal nor grain produced in the area it trav-
erses could have been marketed profitably; mining and farming could not
have developed to the extent that they did. Moreover, its construction drain-
ed much of the surrounding land, further developing the region's agrarian
economy and raising the land values.

3) Engineering: The Hennepin Canal has engineering significance because
it was the first American canal to be built of concrete without cut stone fac-
ings, setting a pattern for canal construction especially at the Panama Canal.

4) Invention: It is also significant in invention because it utilizes
specially designed water control structures: flush ducts and Marshall locks.

5) Politics: Politically, the canal is significant in that it was built
by the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers in response to "Granger" and "Alliance"
preéﬂure and also reflected the sectional rivalry between Chicago, the north-
east, and Great Lakes States and St. Louis and the southwest.

6) Social: The Corps of Engineers employees on the Hennepin Canal and
their families formed a distinct and interconnected social unit stretching
along both banks of the 104 mile canal. Taken together with the people who
worked on the canal boats and barges, this community is typical of canal
life on all American canals.

7) Transportation: The existence of such a route gave the railroads
direct competition and therby helped regulate their rates, making the canal
significant to transportation, as well as commerce. '
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HISTORY

The history of the Hennepin Canal falls into four chronological units:
promotion and planning (1834-1890), construction (1890-1907), commercial
navigation (1907-1951), and recreational use (1951-present). Although these
periods provide a convenient organizational structure, they are not totally
self-contained and mutually exclusive. Elements from each combine with ele-
ments from others to form patterns. These patterns are themselves a major
part of the history of the Hennepin Canal.

In September, 1834, Joseph Galer, former construction superintendent on
the Erie and Ohio Canal and new Illinois settler, took his blanket and gun
and walked from Hennepin, Illinois, on the Illinois River to the Mississippi
River near Rock Island, Illinois. He concluded that the marshy depression
across the divide between the two rivers was a natural pass for a canal, es-
pecially since the depression was bounded by higher land on either side. In
October Galer talked about the project with Dr. Augustus G. Langworthy, a
land speculator who bought, platted and sold "paper towns." As Galer later
recalled, "At first he [Langworthz] made light of the subject, but on my show-
ing him the advantages that would accrue to him if it was carried out, his
having Property at Indiantown,now Tiskilwa, he beian to see that there might
be dollars and cents in it, and so he joined me." The two called a meeting
of local citizens at the Court House in Hennepin to discuss their proposal's
advantages. The participants at this meeting were the nucleus of a group
which printed circulars and intensively lobbied the Illinois General Assembly
to secure state financing for the construction of what became known as the
Hennepin Canal. They had not gained such funding before the Panic of 1837 set
in and internal improvement funding cut short.

America's "Great Canal Era" was at its height in 1834. It had begun in the
eastern states when the success of the Erie Canal (opened in 1825) graphi-
cally demonstrated the economic effects a canal would have on an area: the
expansion of shipping, distributing and manufacturing industries, and the
consequent growth of cities along the route. During the 1830's and 1840's
canal construction began in the western states of Illinois, Ohio, Indiana
and Wisconsin. These canals would serve the same economic functions for the
settled and established areas of these states that canals were serving in the
east. They were also intended to open new areas to settlement. They would pro-
mote settlement directly by providing relatively convenient and inexpensive
passenger transportation to prospective settlers. Indirectly, they would pro-
vide isolated frontier areas with the cheap transportation necessary to mar-
ket large farm surpluses profitably and to stimulate industries such as coal
mining. The original promoters of the Hennepin Canal shared these intentions;

therefore, the Hennepin Canal is not only representative of "Great Canal Era"
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canals , but more specifically of western canals begun in the 1830's and
1840's even though actual construction was not begun until the 1890's.

"Great Canal Era" canals in both the east and west were not built harum-
scarum without regard to the location and capacity of other waterways. Despite
the failure of President John Quincy Adams' dream of a federally planned and
coordinated national system of roads and canals, state officials and private
entrepreneurs were creating a national inland waterway system. Out of sheer
economic expediency some canal promoters geared their through-water lines
along traditional trade routes. Others opened lines which, while connecting
to the established routes, ran in nhew directions. All, however, were aimed at
national, rather than regional, transportation goals. The Hennepin Canal is
representative of this trend; the original promoters, Galer and Langworthy,
saw it as a link in a much larger chain.

By 1834, a state Canal Commission was completing plans for the Illinois
and Michigan Canal (begun 1836, completed 1848. Hereafter cited as I & M
Canal) to connect Lake Michigan via the Chicago River to the Illinois River.
This was a state project with national significance: it would create a it
through-water route from the Great Lakes to the Gulf of Mexico by way of the
Illinois and Mississippi. Rivers. Although a north-south route, it was, be-
cause of connections from the Great Lakes to the Atlantic coast, an improved
link in national east-west inland transportation routes. Galer and Langworthy
argued that the Hennepin Canal would be, in effect, an extension of the I & M
Canal, increasing its east-west importance. The two Illinois canals, plus the
Great Lakes and the Erie Canal in New York, would function as an all-water
version of Interstate 80, opening a direct commercial link with the Upper-
Mississippi Valley. The printed circulars and lobbying efforts of the Henne-
pin group stressed this aspect of the canal and tried to co-opt the already
established support for the I & M Canal.

A wave of land speculation swept through Illinois in the 1830's. The
state's land gamblers were convinced that Illinois' soil, climate and vast
territory could be profitably exploited if inhabitants and enterprise were
provided. Most of the adventurers argued that these two needs could be met
by a liberal system of state internal improvements. Consequently, in the
1830's land speculators put forward many local improvement schemes. The Hen-
nepin Canal is certainly a case in point.

Augustus Langworth, who owned extensive property along the eventual route
of the Hennepin Canal, and others promoted the scheme because it would make
their land more marketable. Improved east-west transportation would enable
residents of the Illinois and Mississippi Valleys, along with settlers a-
cross the divide between the two rivers, to compete in eastern markets where
agricultural prices were set, instead of in New Orleans. It would also reduce
freight rates on manufactured goods imported from the east.

On a regional level, the drainage potential of the proposed canal was im-
portant to land speculators. Much of the land to be traversed by the Hennepin
Canal was not marketable because it was marshy. Land gamblers hoped the num-
erous sloughs and swamps in the area could be sold at a great profit.

In the 1830's Illinois politics was rife with sectional and regional con-
flict. As was the case with all canals in all states, varying regional in-
terests within Illinois came into conflict over the Hennepin Canal proposal.
There were few votes in the Illinois General Assembly from the sparsely pop-
ulated area along the proposed route; certainly not enough by themselves to

force through le%islation spending large amounts of the state's already over-
committed funds there. But the local residents and land speculators did have
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natural allies. Businessmen from the more established areas of northern Illi-
nois who were the mainstay of agitation for the I & M Canal hoped to cash in
on the production of the newly opened lands in Iowa, Wisconsin and Minnesota.
They clearly understood that this proposed Hennepin Canal would reduce the
distance from Chicago to the entire Upper Mississippi Valley above Rock Is-
land, Illinois, by 419 miles. The Hennepin Canal proposal did not, however,
gain the support of all I & M Canal supporters. It appears that working a-
gainst the Hennepin plan were the Representatives from the more populous low-
er Illinois River Valley, the area from Peoria to just north of St. Louis,
which had been promised a monopoly on Great Lakes to Mississippi River traf-
fic. The commercial advantage coming to their constituencies because the pro-
posed I & M Canal placed them on a new Lakes to Gulf route would be reduced
by the amount of totally inland waterway shipping originating in or destined
for the Upper Mississippi Valley.

In the 1830's the Illinois General Assembly was dominated by the "Long
Nine" of Sangamon County in central Illinois (seven Representatives -- inclu-
ding Abraham Lincoln -- and two Senators). They wanted to transfer the State
Capital from Vandalia in Fayette County in southern Illinois to Springfield
in Sangamon County. Consequently, they threw their conspicuous power behind
internal improvement legislation in a log-rolling effort. To put Representa-
tives of northern Illinois and the lower Illinois River Valley in their debt,
the "Long Nine" pressed particularly hard for legislation related to the pro-
posed I & M Canal. They did not, however, apply equal pressure in favor of
the Hennepin Canal. It appears they could not risk the ire of the Representa-
tives of the lower Illinois River, many of whom were linked geographically and
emotionally to southern Illinois and thus to Vandalia. The northern business-
men could not use their votes on the capitol issue as Hennepin Canal leverage
since those votes were already linked to the I & M Canal venture. As a result,
the Hennepin group was unable to secure sufficient legislative backing for
the 1836-37 session, the climax of the internal improvement craze.

During the 1840's and 1850's not only had macadam roads and the east-west
National Road emerged as competitors to canals, but so had railroads. In the
1850's, railroads supplanted canals as the primary means of transportation in
America and railroad fever seized Illinois. Simultaneously, the population of
the area traversed by the proposed Hennepin Canal increased, particularly near
the western terminus, Rock Island, which had become a booming river port. By
the 1860's the population was large enough and the commercial potential of the

Upper Mississippi Valley obvious enough that the State had to meet the area's
demands for internal improvements. The State's political balance had shifted.
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But, reflecting the relative decline of canals nationally and the railroad
boom, instead of a canal, the Chicago, Rock Island and Pacific Railroad was
put through almost directly over the Hennepin Canal route proposed by Galer
and Langworthy in the 1830's.

Although by the 1860's American canals had lost their monopoly on inland
transportation, they still played an important role in national life. One
such role was in defense. Interest in the Hennepin Canal project revived dur-
ing the Civil War when relations between the Union and England were so strain-
ed that a war between the two was concievable. The British had a strategic
advantage in that their St. Lawrence and Welland Canals gave them control of
access to the Great Lakes. The most direct canal route joining the Mississippi
and the Lakes -- a route that included a Hennepin Canal -- would give U.S.
warships a countering advantage. Again, the promoters of the Hennepin Canal
stressed that its importance came from the national waterway system of which
it could be a part. They did not argue the separate and intrinsic worth of
the Hennepin Canal. As the possibility of war became more remote, however,
the miliary necessity and thus popular support for construction ebbed.

Canals still had an economic function in commerce and transportation des-
pite the striking display of potential offered by the railroads during the
Civil War. By the mid-60's, although the fervor of the 1830's and 1840's de-
mands for canal construction was missing, some groups were still requesting
canals. This is reflected in the case of the Hennepin Canal by the continuing
agitation for construction even though a railroad now followed the proposed
route. Several state legislatures, most notably those of Iowa, Illinois and
New York, memorialized Congress for the establishment of a canal by the Fed-
eral government. There were also local pro-canal initiatives. For example,
in 1864 a citizens' committee from Davenport, Iowa, tried to secure an appro-
priation from the Iowa legislature for a survey of the proposed route; in
1866 a canal convention met at Geneseo, Illinois, which resolved to raise
funds for such a survey. Both of these groups were beaten to the punch. In
1866, citizens of Dixon, Illinois, took up a subscription and hired J.0. Hud-
nutt, a civil engineer and surveyor to survey a route from Hennepin to Water-
town, Illinois, on the Mississippi, with a feeder from the Rock River at Dix-
on, Illinois. He estimated construction costs at $4,500,000 for a canal sixty
feet wide on the water line with a six foot channel and locks 150 by twenty-
one feet.

By the late 1860's, some of the earlier enthusiasm returned to canal con-
struction demands across the country. Farming was by now the dominant econom-
ic mode in Illinois. It was during this period that the "Granger" movement
began to grow in America - and in Illinois. The "Grangers'" basic demand was
cheap transportation. The movement was strongest in western farming districts
usually served by only one railroad line. These areas were hard hit by sky-
rocketing freight rates; farmers and business interests were unable to com-
pete with eastern producers in the important market places of the east. "Gran-
ger" politicians developed two answers to their problems: government regula-
tion of rail rates or government support for viable competitors. Canals were
the only viable competitor at the time. Many canal proposals in the western,
southern and mid-western farm belt got fresh consideration as a result of
"Granger" pressure. Construction began on several.

By 1870 the "Granger" political leaders had won control of the Illinois
General Assembly. After northern Illinois' Ulysses S. Grant was elected pres-
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ident in 1868, the Federal government began to respond to Illinois "Granger"
pressures. The first federal survey of the proposed canal was made in 1870
under the authority of Col. J.N. Macomb, U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, and
conducted by Graham P. Low, civil engineer and Surveyor. Low's plan for the
canal followed the same general lines as Hudnutts but at a cost of $12,500,000
This 1870 plan allowed for a canal 160 feet wide, seven feet deep, with 350 by
seventy foot locks —-- reflecting current national standards for canal size.

The Hennepin Canal as finally constructed between 1892 and 1907 -- eighty
feet wide at water line and fifty-two feet wide at its bottom with a seven
foot channel and locks 170 feet long between quoins and thirty-five feet wide
-—- 1is only about half as large as the canal Low proposed in 1870. It is, how-
ever, slightly larger than that Hudnutt proposed in 1866. Clearly, the Henne-
pin Canal's dimensions reflect the late 1860's. Furthermore, they are more
remeniscent of the "Great Canal Era" than other turn-of-the-century naviga-
tion structures. The Hennepin Canal was capable of passing boats with a maxi-
mum of 140 feet length and thirty-four feet beam. The I & M Canal, a "Great
Canal Era" product, was built to accomodate boats with a maximum of 108 feet
length and seventeen feet beam. The Panama Canal, begun in 1904 -- before the
Hennepin was open to navigation -- and completed in 1914, has locks 1,000
feet long and 110 feet wide. The early twentieth century Mississippi River
navigation facilities and the Illinois River project from Utica to Lockport,
finally completed in 1933, were designed and constructed to pass traffic of
nearly 600 feet length and 110 feet beam.

Though the Hennepin Canal is clearly more comparable to the I & M than to
the Panama Canal or even the Mississippi and Illinois rivers, it is still lar-
ger than the I & M Canal. As proposed in 1870, it was even more disproportion-
ate than as actually constructed. Consequently, as early as 1870 the Corps of
Engineers tied the success of the Hennepin Canal to an enlargement of the
I & M or to the improvement of the Illinois River upstream from LaSalle, Illi-
nois (that is, where it parallels the I & M Canal). Low and his colleagues
realized, as had the original promoters of the canal, that the Hennepin Canal
had to be viewed in the context of the national waterway system. It was but
one link in a chain which connected the Upper Mississippi Valley and the At-
lantic seaboard. The Hennepin Canal only connected the Mississippi River to
the Illinois River. In national economic terms, that was meaningless without
an adequate link to the Illinois and then to Chicago.

In 1872, on President Grant's recommendation, the Senate appointed a com-
mittee to study the value of the proposed Hennepin Canal. This committee con-
cluded that a canal would have a great effect as a regulator of railroad
freight rates and probably as an appeaser of "Granger" agitation and dissat-
isfaction in Illinois and the entire Upper Mississippi Valley. However, no
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action was taken towards actually constructing the canal.

For the remainder of the 1870's and early 1880's, "Granger" agitation for
cheap transportation and competition to the railroads continued. In regard to
the Hennepin Canal, several canal conventions memorialized and lobbied in Wa-
shington on "Granger" arguments. In 1881, 400 representatives of commercial,
municipal and farmers' associations from seven states confered in Davenport,
Iowa, and authorized a Hennepin Canal Commission to negotiate with Chicago
groups. Members of this commission tried to publicize the existence, nature
and significance of the national inland waterway system in order to stress the
national importance of their proposed canal unity. The Hennepin Canal Comm-
ission also sent agents (Major Allen and Judge J. Murphy) through the east to
encourage national support. The agents were most successful in New York State,
the home of the new President Chester A. Arthur. Because eastern inland water-
ways connecting Chicago to the Atlantic traversed the state of New York, com-
mercial advantages would accrue to New Yorkers if a Hennepin Canal were con-
structed to allow direct, inexpensive transportation from Chicago to the Upper
Mississippi Valley. The Hennepin Canal Commission agents also secured passage
of a resolution in the Illinois General Assembly calling for Federal construc-
tion of the canal.

These efforts bore fruit in 1882 when the issue came before Congress. The
House Committee on Railways and Canals gave a favorable report on a bill ap-
propriating $1,000,000 for the Hennepin Canal. The Senate Committee on Com-
merce reported out a River and Harbor Bill with an amendment appropriating
$100,000 for the canal. The House voted against the Senate's Bill despite
President Arthur's support. The final compromise bill provided $30,000 to sur-
vey the route again and gather information on the project's practical value.
This appropriation was so small and lacked provision for any construction be-
cause many Representatives and Senators were leery of a national commitment to
a project located entirely in one state. Ironically, vigorous Congressional
opposition grew out of the national ramifications that the congressmen had not
thought existed: sectional rivalry worked against the project. Just as resi-
dents of New York could see the prospects of commercial advantage for their
region coming from the construction of a canal entirely within the state of
Illinois, residents of the lower Mississippi Valley could see prospective com-
mercial disadvantages. Most particularly, St. Louis interests were afraid
trade to and from the Upper Mississippi Valley would be diverted to Chicago,
with which it was vying to become the Mid-West's dominant city. Consequently,
St. Louis residents wanted to avoid not only any actual commercial loss but
also any relative loss. Chicago had grown from a population of 12,088 in 1845
to nearly 20,000 in 1848, the year the I & M Canal was opened to navigation,
and St. Louis interests were sure their city would be totally overshadowed if
a Hennepin Canal were opened. Residents of the lower Mississippi Valley and
near Southwest rallied to St. Louis' cause out of a similar rivalry with the
northeastern states and especially with the Great Lakes states and New York.

While the Hennepin Canal was being debated in Washington, related action
was taking place in Illinois. The Low report and survey of 1870 had linked the
success of the Hennepin Canal to an enlargement of the I & M or the improve-
ment of the Illinois River. The Hennepin Canal Commission had popularized this
idea. In 1882 the people of the state of Illinois voted to cede the I & M to
the Federal government on the condition that the entire canal be enlarged and
maintained as a national commercial waterway. The Corps of Engineers' Board
assigned to study the proposal concluded that it would be just as economical
and even more beneficial to 1) improve the Illinois River from LaSalle to
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Joliet, Illinois; and 2) enlarge only that portion of the I & M from Joliet to
Chicago -- that is, across the low divide between the south branch of the Chi-

cago River and the DesPlaines River. In this plan the Chicago River would re-
main the final link in the chain of waterways from the Upper Mississippi River
and the Gulf of Mexico to Lake Michigan.

On the basis of this report, the federal government refused the cession.
The Corps of Engineers' analysis virtually eliminated federal funding for nec-
essary repairs and enlargements of the I & M. Consequently, it continued to
deteriorates Although the federal government accepted the Corps of Engineers'
negative analysis of the need to enlarge the entire I & M, it ignored the re-
port's positive suggestions. It took no action towards improving the Illinois
River or enlarging the canal across the Chicago Divide.

In 1883 the Corps of Engineers made a report on the Hennepin Canal as pro-
vided by the compromise of 1882. The 1882-1883 survey was made under the au-
thority of Major H.H. Benyuard of the Chicago District of the Corps of Engin-
eers and conducted by H.B. Herr. The report recommended that one of three
routes be selected for the Hennepin Canal: the Marais d'Osier (Willow Marsh),
the Watertown, or the Rock Island. The line of the Eastern half of the route
was the same on all three surveys: the canal would begin at the great bend of
the Illinois River and run along the Bureau Creek Valley to a summit level,
eighteen miles west. The three routes differed only on the remaining western
portion. The northern most route, the Marais d'Osier, had decided advantages:
it was in a low lying area connecting theRock and the Mississippi Rivers up-
stream from Rock Island. During the high water season, the Marais d'Osier
floods to a depth permitting steamboat travel between the two rivers, bypass-
ing Rock Island. Both the Rock Island and Watertown routes entailed excava-
tion in rock and through a soil much more difficult to work. Furthermore,
@ither of these two lines would have doubled the number of bridges and cul-
verts necessary. The report made no definite recommendation on routing.

The most significant portion of the 1883 report summarized the national ec-
onomic advantages to be gained from the construction of the Hennepin Canal.
The report was based on the assumptions that the development of the Upper
Mississippi Valley would be a national economic advantage and that the inland
waterway system was a unified and viable mode of transport and commerce. The
Board of Engineers concluded that cheap transportation to the east was more
important to the development of the Upper Mississippi Valley than was cheap
transportation to the south, a great deal having already been done to provide
such transportation to the south: the Illinois and Mississippi River improv-
ment projects, for instance. The report also pointed out that the main lines
of commerce flow from east to west and west to east. For both imports (manu-

factured articles) and exports (agricultural products), the farm belt of Iowa,
Wisconsin, Minnesota and Illinois needed to be directly connected to the great
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shipping, manufacturing, and population centers of the east.

The 1883 report also argued that the construction of a Hennepin Canal to
compete with the railroads would reduce generally the cost of transportation
in the Upper Mississippi Valley. The report documented the great volume of
the annual cereal product of states directly tributary to the Upper Mississ-
ippi, concluding that the railroad alone could not handle this huge load.
Therefore, the waterway would be a complement as well as a competitor for the
railroads; it would be important in the transportation of heavy and bulky
freight, while the railroads would cater to light freight and perishable goodg
The report contended that the extension of the water-route transportation sys-
tem of the Erie Canal and Great Lakes would so greatly enhance the prosperity
of the northwest, so develop the country immediately tributary to the extend-
ed waterway, and so much increase light freight traffic and passenger travel
that the railroads would prosper as a result of the canal's construction.

In 1886, after new supporters such as the Knights of Labor joined the ranks
of Hennepin Canal advocates, Congress finally acted. Although the sections of
the River and Harbor Bill of 1886 dealing with improvements of the Lower Miss-
issippi River and construction of the Hennepin Canal were deleted, Congress
again appointed a Board of Engineers to examine proposed routes and reinvesti-
gate the effect the canal would have on national commerce. The Board reported
that benefits would exceed costs and suggested the Marais d'Osier route to be
used. The Secretary of War and the Chief of Engineers accepted the Board's re-
port on commerce, although they over-rode its routing suggestions. For commer-
cial reasons and because of "greater military significance" 2 (perhaps rela-
ted to the arsenal located at Rock Island), they decided on the Rock Island
route.

Agitation for the construction of the Hennepin Canal continued from 1886
until 1890. The fervor of this agitation reflected the rise of the national
"Alliance" movement. An agricultural depression was triggering a new wave of
farm radicalism. Regional "Alliances," organizations of farmers' clubs, ex-
panded greatly after 1885. The premises of the "Alliances" were that agricul-
tural prices were too low, that transportation costs were too high, and that
something was radically wrong with America's financial system. Their basic de-
mand was for political action of some kind to improve the lot of the farmers.
Congressional action on the Hennepin Canal to provide cheap transportation for
Upper Mississippi farming areas fit neatly with "Alliance" aims. But in the
1880's, the various regional "Alliances" were unable to unite in a national
political party. Consequently, although Congress considered the Hennepin Canal
proposal repeatedly, it made no construction appropriations. Continually over-
ridden was the argument that the canal would have actual, or even symbolic,
national significance as Congressional action on behalf of the farmers. The
main objection proffered was that without improvement on the Illinois River
and enlargement of the Illinois and Michigan Canal across the Chicago Divide,
the Hennepin Canal would be only of local importance.

To counter this objection by stressing national significance, in 1889 the
name of the canal was changed from the Hennepin Canal to the Illinois and
Mississippi Canal.

By 1890 the various regional "Alliances" and local affiliated farmers
groups were actively involved in local politics. They campaigned with tremen-
dous vigor and had great success in the Upper Mississippi Valley. Their na-
tional clout was becoming apparent. That same year, the Corps of Engineers
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submitted to Congress detailed plans and estimates based on previous surveys.
Captain (later Major and eventually Brigadier General) W. L. Marshall, who
prepared the report, estimated a cost of $6,925,960.

The Corps of Engineers' report also stressed the dominant position which
Chicago held in the northwest and contended that Chicago rather than St.Louis
was the region's inevitable center for commerce. Without the Hennepin Canal,
the Upper Mississippi Valley would be cut off from its natural economic and
commercial focus.

All the statistics and arguments presented in this 1883 report, however,
were geared to the canal size entailed in the 1870 survey. The Board of Engin-
eers did not recommend revising the Hennepin Canal plans to accomodate the in-
creasing size of boats and barges. Opposition to the proposed canal was appar-
ently too great. Even at the 1870 scale, as Low had pointed out and Benyuard
and Herr reaffirmed, the success of the Hennepin Canal depended on the enlar-
gement of a portion of the I & M and the improvement of the Illinois River
from LaSalle to Joliet -- expensive actions. Moreover, enlargement to 1883
standards would have necessitated even more expensive improvements on both the
Illinois River and the I & M. In addition, a canal of 1870 size would require
diversion of vast amounts of water from the Rock River. Water-power interests
on the Rock River objected, saying the canal would injure manufacturing in-
terests at various points along the River. Such complaints would mount if the
Hennepin was brought to 1883 standards. Naturally, continuing their protest
were the areas from which river traffic (either on the Illinois or Mississip-
pi) would be diverted by the canal's construction. They argued that tradition-
al north-south commercial patterns were crucial, not the east-west lines as
argued by the Corps.

Even with an endorsement of the National Board of Trade, in 1884, the ap-
propriation for the Hennepin Canal was deleted from the River and Harbor Bill.
The project was stalled in 1885 despite much agitation by canal supporters,
including a resolution in the New York legislature. Sectional strife was still
largely responsible for the lack of action in Congress. The report of 1890 re-
iterated the economic significance which the proposed canal would afford if it
were part of an adequate national inland waterway system. It also stressed
that the federal government, rather than any private organization, ought to
construct and operate the waterway.

This report bore fruit. By the River and Harbor Act of Septemb=r 19, 1890,
Congress authorized construction of the Hennepin Canal. The canal as author-
ized, however, was even smaller than that proposed in 1870 and 1883. It had
the same channel dimensions as the proposed canals but the dimensions of the
locks were only half the size proposed: 170 feet by thirty feet as opposed to
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350 by seventy. This, of course, appeased canal opponents concerned with water
-power on the Rock River. The size reduction also mollified residents of areas
from which river traffic would be diverted: a reduction in capacity meant a
reduction in competition offered them by the canal. It also mitigated the op-
position of those worried about the great expense involved in improvements to
the Illinois River and enlargement of the I & M Canal across the Chicago Di-
vide. The Corps of Engineers insisted that the size of an inland waterway sys-
tem be determined by its largest part. The Hennepin Canal, under any plan by
then presented, was the largest link in the chain from the Mississippi River
to the Great Lakes. The argument presented was that the smaller the Hennepin
was kept, the less enlargement or improvement needed on the other two links
and, thus, the less expense involved. The Illinois River and the I & M would,
however, still need work. This work, unfortunately, was not broached in River
and Harbor Act of 1890.

Congress ignored the portions of the previous Corps reports which stressed
that without the enlargement of the I & M and improvement of the Illinois Riv-
er, the Corps' conclusions on the economic value of the Hennepin Canal would
be in valid. It also ignored all engineering reports concluding that unless
it was of sufficient capacity, the canal could not do for commerce and the na-
tional economy what was intended. Similar arguments presented by supporters of
cheap transportation such as the "Alliances" were also ignored. In 1890, Re-
publicans and Democrats were still reluctant to make concessions to "Alliance"
demands. They either ignored their agitation or tossed them token sops which
could in no way actually meet the needs described -- clearly the case in the
under-sized Hennepin Canal.

The River and Harbor Act of 1890 authorized the U.S. Army Corps of Engin-
eers under the authority of the Secretary of War to design and construct the
Hennepin Canal. It also appropriated $500,000 for location of the canal, pur-
chase of right-of-way, and construction of four to five miles of canal just
above the mouth of the Rock River near Milan. This section was given priority
not only because it traversed the most populated region of the proposed route,
but also because in providing a by-pass of the lower rapids of the Rock River
it opened navigation to those central Illinois coal fields closest to the Mis-
sissippi River.

Major W.L. Marshall, the officer in charge of the 1890 report on which the
authorizing legislation had been based and the commander of the Second Chicagc
District of the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, was given authority over the
Hennepin Canal construction project. Major Marshall remained in charge until
December 31, 1899, when Major J.H. Willard assumed command. Major Willard was
in charge until July 31, 1903, when he was relieved by Major C.S. Riche. Ma-
jor Riche remained until April 20, 1905, when he turned the work over to Ma-
jor W.H. Bixby, who retained command until April 30,1906, when he turned the
work back to Major Riche who was in charge through the opening of the canal
in 1907. All of these officers were assisted by Assistant Engineer James C.
Long and Assistant Engineer L.L. Wheeler who had been connected with the Hen-
nepin Canal since the late 1880's.

These officers and engineers, most notably Major Marshall and Assistant En-
gineer Wheeler, paired the anachronistic scale of the Hennepin Canal with much
of the most up-to-date technology available in the 1890's. Some features of
the Hennepin Canal are in fact significant innovations in canal engineering.
The most important is the substitution of artificial stone made of Portland

cement —-- concrete -- for traditional cut stone facinds in the canal's locks
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and dams. Some European nations had experimented with concrete, but the Henne-
pin Canal marks the beginning in America of the use of concrete without stone
facings in canal construction.

During the detailed planning stage for the first section of the canal, Ma-
jor Marshall asked the Secretary of War, Charles Foster, for permission to use
concrete without stone facings. Marshall argued that concrete would be strong-
er and more durable than traditional cut stone masonry and was less than half
the price. Furthermore, recognizing though not successfully remedying what was
to be the canal's fatal flaw, Marshall suggested that the savings resulting
from the use of concrete be used to increase the width of the locks by five
feet. On May 11, 1891, the Secretary of War granted permission to use concrete
in construction of dams and locks and accepted the suggestion on expanded lock
width. Thus, not only was most significant engineering innovation on the Henn-
epin Canal secure, but its actual dimensions decided upon (locks 170 feet long
and thirty-five feet wide).

Because of the uniqueness of their situation as officials in charge of the
first Pmerican canal constructed entirely with concrete, Marshall and Wheeler,
who had direct responsibility for the first section of actural construction
work, had to develop methods for working with the material. They used a com-
bination of established techniques and new procedures especially developed for
the project. The concrete for the arch culverts was mixed in the traditional
way by hand, but that for the lock walls was mixed by specially designed ma-
chines which were prototypes for those now in use. In another innovation,
three shifts were established with laborers working eight hours each, so that
work on these walls was continuous from the time the walls were started until
they were completed. With sixty-eight men assigned to each shift, the super-
structure of each lock was completed in about one week's time. Exhaustive
tests conducted during the construction determined that American brands of
Portland cement were at least equal to German and Swedish cements: therefore,
American cement could be used in nearly all the construction, further reducing
costs. Since the specifications for Portland cement developed by the Corps of
Engineers in this work became a standard, American cement manufacturer's sales
increased both immediately and over the long-range.

These engineering innovations, both in material used and methods of dealing
with it, had an immediate impact on American engineering. By 1900, officials
concerned with cement concluded ‘that'as object lessons in its (concrete's)
successful use the locks on the Hennepin Canal stand as monuments in our own
country."

3 The engineering innovations also had a long range impact: they
"revolutionized the construction industry and set a pattern for canal constr-

uction, especially at the Panama Canal." 4
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Many other aspects of the Hennepin Canal construction also involved a com-
bination of established techniques and specially developed procedures. For in-
stance, in the excavation process some of the machinery developed became pro-
to types for that now in use (e.g., the Orange Peeler Dredge was a well-adap-
ted and economical turntable dredge constructed on special contract for the
Hennepin Canal. Its name is derived from its "orange peel" bucket: the lower
part of the bucket was hemispherically shaped and divided into four parts as
an orange is cut when peeled. This bucket is a forerunner of the modern drag
bucket -- it operated automatically like a modern drag bucket except that the
bucket had four sections rather than two.). Other machines developed for spec-
ial circumstances encountered on the canal were not used again and serve as
examples of ingenuity and the sophistocation of late nineteenth and early °
twentieth century technology (e.g., the portion of the main line between mile
20 and mile 23 was declared stable on the basis of shallow borings. But when
work began, it was found to be a peat bog. In 1899 the Corps of Engineers took
the work over from the original contractor, The Globe Construction Company of
Cincinnati, Ohio, and Assistant Engineer Long used hired labor to excavate by
the innovative means of an overhead steam driven cableway with wooden towers
about 500 feet apart.) Still others, such as the three-foot guage railroad,
were rather standard. The vast majority of these machines, as well as general
construction techniques, are documented in an historic photographl collection.
The photo record made at the order of the Corps of Engineers illustrates the
entire construction process from July 1892, when the first earthwork was star-
ted, until November 1907, when the first boat txaveled the canal. The Depart-
ment of Conservation already has copies of a significant number of the photo-
graphs and access to the rest.

The engineering significance of the Hennepin Canal is further enhanced in
that many structures on the canal involve adaptation of generally. accepted en-
gineering models: for example, aqueducts, culverts, spillways, sluiceways,
emergency gates and bridges and the dam at Rock Falls - Sterling, Illinois.
(For descriptions see above Item 7). A few structures, such as the flush ducts
(also described above, Item 7), were developed and designed especially for the
canal.

New also were the upper gates on fourteen of the canal's locks. Although.
the other twenty upper gates and all thirty-four lower gates are ordinary
mitre gates in the engineering pattern dominant for at least the previous sev-
enty years in America, these fourteen gates are innovative. They are automatic
gates designed by Major Marshall. (For a description see above, Item 7). Ac-
cording to Assistant Engineer Wheeler, who supervised the operation of the en-
tire canal in its earliest years of operation, "These gates have given con-
siderable trouble in operation, entirely due to faulty detailing and construc-
tion and not to the principle of the gate itself." 5 However, despite the val-
idity of the design principle, no Marshall gates were ever constructed on an-
other canal project.

When the Hennepin Canal project was begun in 1890, the estimated cost was
$6,925,900; by June 30, 1908 the end of the fiscal year in which constructiorn
was completed) the total cost of the canal and related structures was
$7,319,563.39. Despite the substantial savings that resulted from the use of
concrete, the canal cost nearly $400,000 more than anticipated.

Much of this additional expense was probably the result, directly or in-
directly, of decisions made early in the building process: a questionalble
canal locating policy and an inefficient system for purchasing the right-of-
way. Marshall, Wheeler, and Land had laid out the general route of the main-
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line by the Winter of 1890-91. But then the adjacent cities of Sterling and
Rock Falls put in a joint claim for the terminus of the feeder line, even
though Dixon, another city on the Rock River, had been chosen as its head by
earlier government surveys. Rather than settle the issue then, the engineers
postponed locating the feeder line, ignoring the fact that its location would
have significant effects on the main line. The eventual adoption of the Ster-
ling-Rock Falls line meant that three locks had to be taken out of the main
line's plans and its summit level lowered by nine feet. All of these changes
had to be made in 1899 -- after the "final" location of the main line was com-
plete; after some of the main line right-of-way had been acquired; and after
part of the canal itself had been built and was in use.

The decision to delay the location of (and thus the construction of) the
feeder line also meant that completed portions of the mainline had to stand
empty. Without a completed feeder line, there was no way to get water into the
canal between the mouth of the Green River where it leaves the Rock River and
its junction with the Illinois. The finished but unwatered canal prism and .
banks had to be maintained for up to thirteen years. This was particularly
hard on the eartlwork because in most areas it was completed before other str-
uctures. Crews had to deal with general deterioration as well as with burrow-
ing animals and freshlets in adjacent streams which caused washouts. In fact,
the banks had to completely re-vetted in 1906. But the engineers justified the
increased expense on the grounds that maintenance costs were balanced out by
the cheaper rates paid for major excavation work in earlier years.

The delay in locating the feeder line also led to added expense and litiga-
tion in relation to the dam across the Rock River at Sterling-Rock Falls.
Court actions between 1892 (after the Corps was committed to delay) and 1900
forced major, expensive modification of the dam's design. Then further negoti-
ations and litigation with the Sterling Hydraulic Company over water power
held up work until 1907.

The postponement of the feeder line also delayed construction so long that
highway standards changed. Consequently, another long litigation concerning
bridges across the feeder stopped construction and added even more to the costy

A second questionable administrative decision, probably as significant as
the location of the feeder, related to right-of-way acquisition. Congress had
appropriated funds for the right-of-way acquisition and the Illinois General
Assembly ceded to the Federal government jurisdiction over lands acquired
through eminent domain. But the Corps of Engineers did not move immediately to
secure the right-of-way for the entire route in one complete, continuous oper-
ation. From 1891 until 1906, they obtained it only as needed for construction.

For purposes of construction, the Corps divided the canal into five sec-

tions: the feeder, the eastern, western, Rock River, and Milan sections. They
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obtained the right-of-way for the Milan section between 1891-92; the eastern
and western sections between 1893-98; the feeder section between 1896-1901;
and the land to be inundated by the dam on the Rock River at Sterling-Rock
Falls between 1905-06. This cumbersome policy raised construction costs: land
values were rising rapidly throughout the region and land valued at $10-100
per acre in 1890 was eventually purchased for twice as much. The piecemeal ac-
quisition also delayed construction because the government was faced with many
lawsuits which asked for more money than the landowners were being offered in
bids based on 1890 valuations.

Other incidents and circumstances also contributed to the excess costs. For
example, in July 1892 construction began on the Milan section, for which the
River and harbor Act of 1890 had appropriated funds. Assistant Engineer Wheel-
er was in charge of the construction of the Milan section, five miles of ca-
nal just above the mouth of the Rock River. By June 3, 1892 (the end of the
fiscal year), he had awarded contracts for three miles of canal prism, for the
foundations of three locks, and for supplying sand and pebbles for use in the
concrete masonry -- contracts based on estimates figured on a ten-hour work
day. The eight-hour work day had been a cause celebre for nearly ten years and
during the summer of 1892, Congress was in the process of taking action on the
qguestion. Unfortunately, although work had begun in July, the Hennepin contr-
acts did not reach the Chief of Engineers in Washington, D.C. until after Aug-
ust 1 when Congress passed an act providing that laborers should not be per-
mitted or required to work more than eight hours a day for the government or
government contractors. Work on the Hennepin stopped and the Chief of Engin-
eers directed that the work be readvertized. As a result of the new eight-
hour day law, the cost of labor on the entire canal rose 25% over that esti-
mated.

The Milan section of the canal was basically completed in November 1894.
Water was turned into the canal on November 29, but it was not formally open-
ed to navigation until April 17,1895. This section of the canal joins the nat-
ural harbor of the Rock River pool on the west. Work on the Rock River section
was financed from an 1892 appropriation and completed in conjunction with the
work on the Milan section. Supervised by the Rock Island Office of the Corps
of Engineers, there were few problems in the improvement of the natural har-
bor.

In the Rock River section, the canal flows in the Rock River itself; there-
fore, letting water in was not considered a separate construction step. The
Milan section was the only other section to have water let into it before 1907
The rest of construction sat empty until the entire canal was finished.

By the fall of 1895, coal from central Illinois was being shipped down the
canal's Milan and Rock River sections. Since Rock Island, the western termin-
us, was a primary coaling station on the Mississippi River, shipment of coal
to Rock Island alone kept the open portion of the canal busy until 1907.

Work on the eastern section under Assistant Engineer Long began in 1894.
This section included that stretch of the mainline from the Great Bend of the
- Illinois River to Mile 24 north of Sheffieldd on the summit level. From an en-
gineering standpoint, it was the most challenging section of the canal. In
its first eighteen miles it ascends 196 feet from the Illinois River and re-
quires twenty-one locks. It is also very close to Bureau Creek, making nece-
ssary a high embankment and three aqueducts. A set of emergency gates also
had to be constructed.

In addition to these expected construction challenges, contractors discov-
ered after work had begun that at least three miles of the line went through
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a peat bog. Moreover, the builders of the eastern section had to deal with
very limited appropriations. Only with the River and Harbor Act of June 3,
1896, was the Hennepin Canal placed on a continuing-contract system which
meant a regular annual allocation from 1897-1902. The eastern section was ba-
sically completed in 1899, five years after it was begun.

Meanwhile, in 1897 under the new funding status, work started on the west-
ern section of the canal. This section under Assistant Engineer Wheeler's
charge included that part of the main line from Mile 24 to the Rock River
southwest of Colona at Mile 62. There were few problems in connection with its
construction.

Excavation work on the feeder finally began in 1899 under Wheeler's super-
vision. Aside from problems arising from litigation and other consequences re-
sulting from the initial decision to delay this work, it progressed smoothly.
In 1906, work began on the dam at Sterling-Rock Falls, Only after this final
structure was completed could water be let into the feeder and thus the eas-
tern and western sections of the mainline.

Construction officially ended on October 21, 1907. Water from the Rock Riv-
er at Sterling-Rock Falls was turned into the feeder line on October 24. The
canal prism, some of which had been completed but unwatered for thirteen
years, settled and filled only slowly. The steamer U.S. Marion, under the com-
mand of Captain Rambo and loaded with government officials, was the first boat
to travel the full seventy-five miles of the mainline (eastern, western, Milan
and Rock River sections). The Marion left the Illinois River at Bureau, Illi-
nois, on November 8, 1907, and arrived at the Mississippi River near Rock Is-
land, Illinois, on November 15.

During the fifteen years of construction, the excavated but unused portions
of the canal had served as a drainage ditch for previously swampy and there-
fore unfarmable land along its route. When the water was first turned into the
canal, underdraining ceased and the land reverted to swamp. Farmers who had
brough this newly arable land under cultivation complained, blaming the wet
conditions on seepage. Despite the lack of validity of the farmers' conten-
tion, the Corps built drainage ditches at the cost of about half a million
dollars. Actual seepage was. remedied with the spring rains of 1908 which led
to a deposit of sediment on the bed and banks. The earthwork stood the test of
actual water pressure well considering the number of years involved in con-
struction.

Once the entire waterway was completed and opened to navigation, the labor
force had to be reduced from the high level required by construction. After
1907, the Corps employed at least fifty men, and often more, full-time, year-
round to operate and maintain the Hennepin Canal as a commercial waterway. The
labor force, although comprised entirely of civilians, was under the direct
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supervision of the Rock Island District Office of the U.S. Army Corps of En-
gineers.

For purposes of administration, the Corps divided the canal into sub-
sections, each in the charge of an overseer. These sections varied in length
from four to twelve miles in length. Each overseer had under him lockmen or
patrolmen or both. This organizational structure is typical of that used on
all canals operated for commercial navigation regardless of the period of
time.

All the overseers, lockmen and patrolmen were full-time, year-round employ-
ees and the Corps required them to live in Corps-owned houses adjacent to the
canal, decucting the rent from their salaries. With the exception of the lock-
man at Lock 1 who lived in a houseboat, they were encouraged to keep stock.
Nearly every family had three cows and their offspring (the technical limit--
although many employees exceeded it, keeping dairy and/or beef herds of twen-
ty-five to thirty). The cattle could graze fxree on the canal right-of-way.
Many employees also raised pigs and chickens. In the early years, a select
few had teams of horses which they rented to the Corps for mowing grass, and
so on. The horses, too, grazed free of charge. Each residence also had a
large garden plot and some had orchards as well. Besides these income supple-
ments, the Corps granted lockmen and patrolmen exclusive trapping rights to
an area of canal adjacent to their homes. (The primary catch was mink and
muskrat.)

The regulations governing and privileges granted to Hennepin Canal employ-
ees by the Corps welded them into a loose "community." They were linked to-
gether not only by occupation but also by the virtually identical lifestyles
dictated or offered by their employer. Both of these links differentiated them
to a degree from their neighbors who were generally townspeople or farmers.
The canal men and their families formed a distinct and inter-connected "social
unit" streching along both banks of the 104 mile canal. Taken together with
the people who worked on the canal boats and barges, this "community" is typi-
cal of canal life on all American canals. The Hennepin Canal is in this case
not a typical or unique, but a microcosm of the whole.

The canal was open to navigation whenever weather permitted; that is, un-
less closed by ice. So in addition to responsibility for canal structures and
supervision of the lockmen and patrolmen, the erseers were in charge of
hired hourly labor through the summer season. The part-time and full-time help
raised the entire labor force to well over one hundred men each summer season.

The overseers were also responsible for the equipment used in maintainance
and operation. Besides the standard items and machinery, each overseer was
provided with a motor launch and some had the responsibility for various Corps
tow-boats, barges and dredges. In later years a fleet of trucks also came un-
der the overseers' charge.

Maintainance work during the years of operation (1907-1951) included patro-
lling the banks, operating the locks, strengthening banks, reapiring breaks,
repairing and maintaining structures, revetting, repairing boats and barges,
servicing the telephone system, remedying seepage conditions, maintaining a
constant channel depth, and keeping drainage pipes, culverts and intersecting
waterways flowing freely. Miscellaneous maintainance and improvement, such as
trimming and burning weeds, grass, trees and brush along the right-of-way or
gravelling the towpath and bridge approaches, were also necessary.

The total cost for operation and care from 1908 through 1951 was $6,900,653
or an average of $160,480 per year. Costs were particularly high in the first

six years not only because there were major breaks in the banks of the canal
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for three successive years, but also because the drainage ditches built to
pacify the farmers (see above) were charged to maintainance rather than con-
struction. For the next thirty years of operation, costs were exceptionally
high only after four major breaks in the canal banks: 1928,1932,1938 and 1940.
The 1943 break in the canal, which took out not only a lock but an aqueduct,
marks the beginning of the final nine year sequence of extremely high opera-
tional costs.

Unfortunately, these operational expenses were not offset by national eco-
nomic advantages as the promoters of the Hennepin Canal had alledged they
would be. In 1907, when the Corps of Engineers opened the canal to navigation,
the only navigable link between its eastern terminus and Lake Michigan was
still inadequate. Ever since 1882 the Corps had insisted on two necessary con-
ditions for a successful Hennepin Canal: 1) improvement of the Illinois River
from LaSalle to Joliet; and 2) enlargement of only that portion of the I & M
Canal from Joliet to Chicago. By 1907, nothing had been done to make the Illi-
nois navigable from LaSalle to Joliet. Traffic still had to pass through the
I & M between these two points.

The I & M Canal was built to accomodate boats with a maximum of 108 feet
length and seventeen feet beam drawing a maximum of 4.5 feet of water. The
Hennepin, though its size had been kept anachronistic, was larger, capable of
passing boats with a maximum of 140 feet length and thirty-four feet beam and
640 gross tons. Its extreme capacity was probably three boats each way per
hour; 144 boats a day of 640 registered tons each; 18,432,000 tons in two hun-
dred days, the shortest possible navigational season.

Plainly, the two canals did not fit. Shippers soon realized that rather
than transfer cargoes from smaller boats to larger and vice versa, it was
cheaper to use the extreme capacity of the I & M as the maximum on both canals
The full size of the Hennepin could not be taken advantage of in conjunction
with the I & M.

Moreover, after 1878 the I & M had failed to pay even the expenses of its
operation and maintenance. By 1907, the thirty years of continual deficit op-
eration had taken its toll; the canal was so deteriorated that it was hardly
navigable.

On the other hand, the improved Joliet to Chicago connection which the
Corps had pinpointed as the second necessary condition for a successful Henn-
epin Canal had been created. By the 1860's, Chicago's water supply was con-
taminated by:. sewage running down the Chicago River into Lake Michigan, causing
typhoid. To deal with the health problem, in 1892 the State of Illinois' Chi-
cago Sanitary District began construction on the Chicago Sanitary and Ship Ca-
nal. This capacious canal with a twenty-six foot channel extends from the Chi-

cago River across the divide to the DesPlaines River at Lockport, Illinois.
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The channel was also deepened in the Chicago River, whose flow was changed in
connection with the canal's construction.

This bigger and more modern canal, although not built specifically for that
purpose, then replaced the small and deteriorated I & M as the commercial wa-
terway from Lockport to Chicago. Most of the portion of the I & M Canal that
the Corps had wanted to enlarge was instead abandoned in 1900. In 1901, a fur-
ther section of the Chicago Sanitary and Ship Canal opened from Lockport to
Joliet, causing that part of the I & M to be abandoned as well. (This reach of
the Chicago Sanitary and Ship Canal was itself subsequently replaced when the
Illinois River project was completed in 1933.)

Thus, as of 1901 there was an adeguate connection between Lake Michigan and
the Illinois River at Joliet. One of the necessary conditions for a successful
Hennepin Canal had been met. But necessary as this was, it was not sufficient
for the success of the Hennepin Canal. Once again, the importance and unity of
a total waterway system becomes apparent. The Hennepin Canal can not be viewed
in isolation.

Although the Corps opened the Hennepin to navigation in October-November
1907, commercial traffic was not really possible until the 1908 season because
of winter weather. Despite the fact that the canal still ended virtually in
mid-air by 1908, no one forsaw what a total waste the canal would be without
the LaSalle to Joliet connection because it was assumed that coal shipments
could keep the entire canal busy. After all, the stretch of canal opened in
1895 had been kept busy by coal shipments to Rock Island. Unfortunately, with-
in a matter of months of the 1907 opening of the entire canal, the coal fields
of central Illinois closed.

Because the coal shipments ended, the first major use of the canal was
merely to pass launches, houseboats and pleasure boats. These boats, however,
were only moving from one permanent base to another; they did not represent
the beginning of significant tourism.

Supplies and construction equipment being used to put the finishing touches
on the construction project itself were also shipped on the canal. In 1908,
the only commodities hauled on the canal were those used in canal construction
and operation: woad; cement; tile: sand and gravel; lumber and posts; coal for
heating the overseer and lockmen/patrolmen houses. They made up over half of
all the tonnage carried during the first five years of operation.

The most profitable commercial activities associated with the Hennepin Ca-
nal in its earliest years of operation did not come from the traffic at all.
In 1895 the Corps began to sell ice permits, charging one dollar per thousand
square feet of ice cut. They built ice houses along the canal to store the ice
for staff use and rented others to commercial ice firms. Ice was even stored
in the peat beds along the canal right-of-way on the summit level. In addition
the Corps rented out as pasture those stretches of right-of-way not already
allocated to employees for their own use.

Although several freight services were proposed in the earliest years of
canal operations, no regular freight service was established. The canal needed
private freight services to solicit and promote its commercial use. In the
twentieth century, traffic was simply not going to flock to the canal when
railroads were conveniently located and offered good terminal facilities. Al-
though the canal was close to several towns, unlike the railroads it did not

pass directly through any. Furthermore, the Corps of Engineers did not modify

their construction plans in light ¢of the fagct that they knew the cana at
least in its first gears of opg%atgon, wou?g not ﬁave In agequa%e eas%érn out-
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let. The Corps unrealistically saw the Hennepin Canal as having nothing to do
with its immediate region. They thought most traffic would originate outside
of the vicinity of the canal and be destined for a location far from it. This
idea would have been perfectly sound if the Hennepin Canal had been part of a
system with equal sized parts. It was not. Nevertheless, in keeping with their
initial understanding of its purpose, the Corps did not build facilities for
loading and unloading commodities on the canal. Any terminal facilities had to
be built and maintained by private entrepreneurs. Railroads were not going to
build terminals in conjunction with the canal not only because they were un-
sure of the usage the facilities would get on this dead end canal but also be-
cause if successful, such facilities would cut into their own carrying trade.

The situation was partially remedied in 1910 when the firm of Smith-Hippen
built two grain elevators on the feeder canal. For some years, small grain
shipments made to distilleries in Pekin and Peoria on the Illinois River were
carried on single barges powered by steam operated towboats. A few other ele-
vators were constructed and grain transit became the mainstay of Hennepin Ca-
nal commerce from 1909 until 1913 (grain accounted for 55% of all commodities
carried on the Hennepin Canal in this period). However, no truly significant
grain hauling business developed: over the five year period a total of only
21,073 tons of grain were hauled. Access to large metropolitan markets was
just too expensive and too inadequate. Only a limited number of grain produ-
cers in the immediate vicinity of the canal itself could successfully compete
in the markets of the mid-Illinois River basin.

The transport of salt was another potentially major freight market for the
canal. Beginning in 1912, the Morton Salt Company shipped approximately 1,200
tons of salt from Chicago to Davenport, Iowa, via the canal. In 1913, they
shipped approximately 2,000 tons. However, in that same year, Joy Morton,
president of the company, discontinued service of one of its steamboats be-
cause the I & M Canal had become so shallow that navigation was nearly impos-
sible. In succeeding years, all Morton shipments were phased out for the same
reason.

Although the Corps had been promoting the improvement of the Illinois River
for thirty years, no progress had been made on the channel between LaSalle and
Joliet. Perhaps to force the issue and end the stalemate, in 1915 -- only
eight years after it was officially opened -- serious consideration was being
given to abandonment of the Hennepin Canal. By that year, the record commcial
tonnage carried on the canal was 12,222 -- reached in 1914. Although this 1914
tonnage record is almost inconsequential compared to the canal's maximum capa-
city (18,000,000 yearly), the record was not equaled or exceeded until 1921.

The canal's failure to come up to expectations is even more obvious when

one considers the cost of construction and annual expenditures for operation
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and care. By 1916 a total of $9 million had been spent on the project. In com-
arison, its commerce -- a total of less than 70,000 tons, not counting constr-
uction and maintenance supplies moved -- is insignificant.

The abandonment argument was not, however, pushed very far at that time.
The Corps explained the canal's difficulties in terms of the lack of a suit-
able water connection to Chicago. Even though the Chicago Sanitary and Ship
Canal had solved the problem from Lake Michigan to the Illinois River, a bot-
tle-neck still existed on that river from Joliet to LaSalle. The Corps got the
response they wanted from both the federal government and the State of I1I1li-
nois. In 1918-19, the I & M from Joliet to LaSalle underwent a temporary reju-
venation financed by federal funds. But more importantly, in 1919 the Illinois
General Assembly passed an act authorizing construction, operation, and main-
tenance of a deep water way from Lockport to Utica on the Illinois River.Such
a project would remove the bottle-neck in the east-west route of which the
Hennepin was a part. It would also connect the Chicago Sanitary and Ship Canal
with the improved Illinois River channel which the Corps had completed between
Utica and the Mississippi River.

There was little change in the Hennepin Canal for the next ten years. In
the mid 1920's, the State of Illinois started improving the Illinois River
from Utica to Lockport. The. and of the Hennepin Canal's problems seemed to be
at hand. Expectations for the canal rose. Local interest was aroused once a-
gain. Private entrepreneurs already established along the canal benefitted
from the publicity accruing to the Hennepin Canal as a result of the Illinois
River work. Other businessmen, perhaps hoping to get established before it be-
gan to boom as a commercial waterway, set up firms and began to offer services
of various sorts connected with the canal. Annual commercial tonnage stopped
fluctuating so much and leveled out at low, but steady, rates (averaging
10,000-15,000 tons yearly). By the late 1920's, use began to pick up notica-
bly. In 1929 the canal had its all-time highest use: 30,161 tons.

By 1930, however, not only had the Great Depression begun to make its mark
on commerce in general but the full significance of the Illinois River impro-
vements was beginning to dawn on local residents and businessmen. Commercial
tonnage carried on the Hennepin Canal decreased by nearly 40% from the previ-
ous year: only 18,142 tons were transported in 1930.

The navigation structures being constructed on the Illinois River were lar-
ger than those on the Hennepin Canal, scaled to fit with improvements which
the Corps had already made on the Illinois and Mississippi Rivers. Locks were
to be 600 feet in length and 110 feet in width. Such structures would certain-
ly eliminate the bottleneck created by the small and deteriorated I & M canal;
the Illinois River project in conjunction with the Chicago Sanitary and Ship
Canal provided a spacious route to Chicago. Both the necessary and sufficient
conditions for a successful Hennepin Canal as prescribed by the Corps of En-
gineers from 1870 on were to be met. Yet, the future of the Hennepin Canal was
not bright -- as everyone concerned realized by 1930 and as the Corps of En-
gineers had known since 1919.

The Hennepin Canal, which was not a commercial success because it was too
large, was now, ironically, going to be too small. The solution to the canal's
original problem was going to render it obsolete. The new situation, which
would be created by the completion of the Illinois River improvement from Uti-
ca to Lockport, would only emphasize the limitations of the Hennepin Canal
when compared to more modern navigation facilities, the canal might be elim-

inated altogether.
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Operation in conjunction with a more capacious facility would not necessar-
ily lead to maximum utilization of the Hennepin Canal nor the under-use of the
larger waterway. Even though it was the shortest one, the Hennepin Canal was
not the only all-water route between the Great Lakes and the Upper Mississippi
Valley. It was possible to pass from the Great Lakes via the Chicago Sanitary
and Ship Canal to the I & M Canal and from there into the Illinois River.
Traffic could proceed down the Illinois to the Mississippi and then head up
the Mississippi. As long as the I & M Canal was still in active service, there
was little advantage in traveling that longer alternative route even though
it was larger once through the bottleneck that the I & M created between La-
Salle and Joliet. Without a change of vessels at LaSalle, the traffic on ei-
ther route was limited to virtual packetboat size by the I & M Canal's facili-
ties. Consequently, most users opted for the shorter route via the Hennepin
Canal.

Once the Illinois River project replaced the I & M, however, capacity would
no longer be restricted on the longer route. The completion of the improver 1
ments from Lockport to Utica would mean that the entire Illinois River and the
Chicago Sanitary Canal had the same capacity as the modernized Mississippi
River navigation facilities. Shipments much larger than those it was possible
to carry on the Hennepin Canal could travel to and from the Upper Mississippi
Valley with ease on the alternate route.

The difference in capacities of the two routes would particularly hurt the
Hennepin Canal because methods and machinery for through-water transport had
changed. The Hennepin was designed for packetboat traffic. Twentieth century
technology had created vastly increased lock sizes which promoted the used of
the large towboats and barge units similar to those now in use. Any such units
involving more than one, or at most, two small barges could not travel the
Hennepin with its extensive number of small, manually-operated locks and its
narrow channel with many sharp bends. Fears arose that most barge lines would
find operating modern units with larger load capacities over the longer route
more economical than more frequent short hauls over the Hennepin.

Federal authorities encouraged these fears of imminent collapse. The River
and Harbor Act of July 3, 1930, belatedly provided for an examination and sur-
vey of the Hennepin to determine the possibilities of enlarging the channel.
Though the Corps of Engineers had been urging an improvement of the Illinois
River for nearly fifty years and knew the specifics of the River project for
over ten years, they apparently had never officially studied its full ramifi-
cations for the Hennepin. The Act authorized an examination and survey of a
navigable channel nine feet in depth, with an increased width and enlarged
locks. The engineers were also to make a plan for reducing the number of locks

rthermpre hey were to make a preliminary examination and survey of a nav-
Egaﬁye gﬁanﬁef nYne %eet in depth? with an ¥ncreased width, and enlarged locks
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The engineers were also to make a plan for reducing the number of locks. Fur-
thermore, they were to make a preliminary examination and survey ofan addi-
tional nine foot channel from Janesville, Wisconsin, on the Rock River to the
head of the feeder on the Rock River at Sterling-Rock Falls. The canal would
then continue from there to Rock Island, Illinois. The Rock Island District
of the Corps 6f the Corps of Engineers filed a favorable preliminary report
in 1931 and continued to study the situation.

Meanwhile, commercial activity continued to decline. The years 1932 through
1936 was a major period of inactivity on the Hennepin Canal: a total of only
35,513 commercial tons were carried during the whole five year period. The in-
activity can be related in part, to the Great Depression. The specific down-
ward cycle was, perhaps, set in motion by a major break in the canal bank in
1932 which forced the closing of the waterway for significant portions of the
season. Moreover, in 1933 the improved Lockport to Utica section of the Illi-
nois River was actually opened to navigation. A major factor, too, was the
fear of being trapped on a commercial backwater. Business and commercial in-
terests did not want to be involved with a project which had a public image of
failure. Without active participation and cooperation by the private sector --
shippers, manufacturers, etc. —--the Hennepin Canal could not be a success.

By 1937 the Rock Island District had finally finished their study of the
Hennepin Canal and were ready to offer analyses and recommendations for it in
light of the opening of the Illinois River to large scale shipping. The report
concluded that the existing canal was incapable of attracting any appreciable
amount of traffic because of its physical limitations. Simultaneously, the
engineers stressed that if their proposed plan of enlargement was carried out,
the existing limitations of the canal would be removed. The new facilities
would be comparable in navigation dimensions to both the Illinois and Miss-
issippi Rivers and, therefore, large enough to attract a great deal more com-
merce. The Rock Island District engineers predicted even more success for
their improved Hennepin Canal than their predecessors had for the original
project. They estimated initial commerce would be close to 1,700,000 tons
annually.

Although this report was negative in relation to the existing canal, it
did hold out bright prospects for the future of the Hennepin Canal. Perhaps
in response to this encouragement, commerce began to pick up again.

Even so, the fact that the Rock Island District of the Corps of Engineers
favored enlargement did not mean it would be done. The Chief of Engineers'
Office had to review the report and then, only if the proposal fit into the
Corps of Engineers' national program, did it go on to Confress for a final de-
cision. The Chief's office took little immediate action on the Hennepin Canal
proposal. Perhaps to force the issue as they had done so successfully in 1916
in relation to an adequate Chicago connection, the engineers reported that the
Hennepin Canal should be abandoned if the enlargement was not carried out im-
mediately. To emphasize the crisis nature of the situation and the limited
use it received, the Corps allowed the canal to deteriorate considerably. In
1938 no funds were used for rehabilitation work. The only money spent was on
maintainance of bridges and structures pertinent to drainage. The engineer-in-
charge, Colonel Earl E. Gesler, explained that it was not advisable to spend
money on repairs to a waterway which would soon be either abandoned or re-
built. (This policy had to be temporaily reversed after a major break in the
canal occurred in the spring of 1939. Repairs delayed the opening of the ca-
nal to navigation until July 13 of that year.)

In April 1939, the Corps of Ehgineers called public hearings in Washington
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on the fate of the Hennepin Canal. Three major arguments were presented againj
st abandonment and in favor of enlargement. First, construction of the improv-
ed canal would provide many jobs in a period of continued high unemployment.
Secondly, potential traffic for the enlarged Hennepin Canal would be even
greater than figures from the Illinois River would indicate. Once the Mississ-
ippi River channel at Rock Island was deepened from 4.5 feet to nine feet --

a project already in progress —-- it could be expected to provide more traffic.
Finally, abandonment was an irreversable step; it meant draining the canal,
allowing the banks to deteriorate and aqueducts to wash away. If the canal was
ever to be reopened, the expense to make it navigable again would be exhorbi-
ant.

In 1939, the Washington Office of the Corps of Engineers finished their re-
view of the Rock Island District's proposals and arguments. They did not send
the enlargement and improvement of the Hennepin Canal on to Congress; they <
concluded that enlargement was not economically justified at the time. The
Office of the Chief of Engineers, however, did not recommend abandonment.
They separated the two questions which had been merged by the Rock Island
Office, perhaps for "political" reasons.

Consequently, commercial traffic continued on the Hennepin Canal. This
traffic, however, consisted mainly of local commodities being moved within the
canal's immediate vicinity. Throughout the early 1940's, agitation for and a-
gainst modernization of the canal continued. In 1945 the Rock Island District
of the Corps of Engineers issued another report, bringing the matter to a
head. Their report advocating modernization was supported by the Saint Louis
Office of the Corps of Engineers -- once the focal point for anti-Hennepin
Canal agitation. The response from Washington was quick and definite. The
Board of Engineers for Rivers and Harbors presented an unfavorable report on
the modernization proposal, concluding that the cost would be too great and
the value doubtful. There was no promising "at this time" in the 1945 decision

Perhaps as a result of this pronouncement, another major decline in commer-
cial use began in 1946. All traffic was local and meager: only 866 commercial
tons in 1946 and 394 in 1947. Consequently, on April 7, 1948, the Corps issu-
ed a navigation notice which put the Hennepin on a limited service basis. The
canal was to be open to all types of navigation, recreational and commercial,
on Thursdays and Fridays if arrangements had been made one day in advance;
commercial tows could travel the canal on other week days if they made arrang-
ements at least seven days in adwance.

Although this allowed the Corps to reduce the labor force, it did not solve
the problem of commercial usage. In 1948, no commercial tonnage was reported.
In 1948 and 1950, the only commodities moved were those used in maintenance

of the canal itself.
In spite of the dismal commercial fate of the Hennepin Canal in this peri-
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od, there was still traffic on it. Recreational navigation increased in the
post-war years. From its opening in 1907 to the present, the Hennepin has been
used as much for recreation as for commerce. The Corps rules and regulations
for its operation stated that the canal lands were purchased for the purposes
of navigation and construction, and for the exclusive use of United States
government employees. But the canal was always used for other purposes and by
other than government employees. Fishing and picnicking were always common a-
long its banks. Fish caught in the canal still hold Illinois records. Swim-
ming, too, was popular. Fishing and swimming were actually prohibited only in
the lock chambers. There were even organized recreational programs along the
canal.

Passenger excursion boat service also started early. The greatest passenger
use occurred between 1916 and 1918, the highest usage coming in 1918 with over
35,000 passengers. Unprofitable, it was discontinued well before World War II.
In later years, passengers travelled in pleasure craft. Much of this traffic
originated on the Rock River near the head of the feeder and travelled a tri-
angular route which took several weeks and included both the Illinois and
Mississippi Rivers.

By 1950, the canal was so deteriorated that in some places pleasure traf-
fic was all that could pass. Only 3.5 feet of water remained in the Rock River
section of the main line while only four feet flowed in the feeder. But the
Rock Island District Office of the Corps of Engineers, which directly adminis-
tered the canal, still refused to authorize more than minimal maintainance.’
It seems they continued to contend that if modernization was not carried out,
abandonment had to begin. The threat of abandonment kept at least the recrea-
tional users of the canal lobyying Washington in favor of modernization.

It was not surprising then that when the Corps of Engineers reviewed it's
national program, the Hennepin Canal came up for discussion. In 1951 the Corps
suspended lock operations and eliminated nonessential maintainance expendi-
tures on seven canalized waterways which afforded little or no benefit to gen-
eral commerce and navigation. The Hennepin Canal was on the list. On June 20,
1951, the Division of Engineers issued a public notice that the canal would be
closed to commercial navigation after June 30, 1951. It remained open to rec-
reationaliuse. Simultaneously, the Rock Island District Office began a de-
tailed study of effective disposal of the canal property-.

Censidering the Rock Island District Office's previously expressed attitudes
and opinions, it was a foregone conclusion that their report would equate ef-
fective disposal of canal property with abandonment. Residents of northwest
Illinois familiar with the recreational value of the canal raised a storm of
protests; newspapers, Chambers of Commerce, the Illinois Federation of Sports-
men Clubs and many other groups joined the demonstration.

As part of the general outcry, the presdédent of the Illinois Branch of the
Izaack Walton League wrote Governor Adlai Stevenson and suggested the Hennepin
Canal be made a state park. Senator Everett Dirksen of Illinois also urged the
transfer of the canal to the state for recreation purposes. Governor Stevenson
himself had advocated such an action in 1936 when he was a congressman and a-
gain expressed interest in the transfer in 1951, promising an investigation of
the possibilities.

With such strong popular support and Governor Stevenson's leadership, the
68th General Assembly (1951) petitioned the federal government to postpone
abandonment plans until the State of Illinois could take whatever action nec-
essary to insure effective utilization of the canal for recreational and con-
servation purposes. Consequently, complete abandonment was not carried out
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and the canal put in a stand-by maintainance category until final disposition
could be determined. In the fall of 1951, the Corps reduced the water level
from seven feet to five feet and only performed work mecessary to maintain
and safeguard the canal and its structures. From 1952-1955, the average annual
cost was less than $100,000. Although the canal did remain open for recrea-
tional use, the Corps neither promoted that recreation nor developed the area
to facilitate it. Pleasure boating and fishing were the main activities.

Simultaneously, the Corps prepared a four-part report covering complete
abandonment (restoration of the land to its original state), partial abandon-
ment (draining and removing some structures), and development for recreational
uses (both as a whole and in part). The report estimated costs of complete
abandonment at $10,000,000 and partial abandonment at $1,700,000.

The Illinois Department of Conservation also started immediately on a one
year fishing and engineering study. This report estimated a cost of $2,521,439
for conversion of the canal from commercial waterway to modified recreational
area. Moreover, the National Park Service made a preliminary report, recommen-
ding that the canal be maintained for recreational purposes.

In 1953 the Illinois House and Senate created the Illinois-Mississippi Ca-
nal and Lake Sinnissippi Commission, authorized to study the feasibility of
saving the Hennepin Canal and Lake Sinnissippi for recreat ional uses. The Com-
mission was also to consult with federal and state officials and private in-
dividuals about the matter and report its findings and recommendations to the
General Assembly.

The Commission was not a standing commission, but its life could be renewed
every two years, as it has been at every session since, with the same duties
and mesponsibilities. ‘

Its first step in 1953 was to open negotiations with the Corps of Engineers
Before much progress was made in thesenegotiations, two problems emerged: 1)
the federal government only had flowage easements to the land under Lake Sin-
nissippi and not clear title. Because the canal was no longer a navigalbe wa-
terway, the @ommission felt that the land underlying its reservoir reverted
to its original owners. 2) The Illinois Constitution forbade the General Ass-
embly to make appropriations to aid railroads and canals. The Commission con-
cluded that the State could not take possession of the canal for any purposes
without a constitutional amendment.

In light of these discoveries, the Corps agreed to postpone abandonment.
The Commission then held four public meetings, each at a different location
along the route, to discuss preserving and developing the canal as a park ar-
ea. The hearings were well attended and both opponents and proponents spoke.
The popular agitation first apparent at these meetings continued for years

in varying degrees of intensity. The majority of support came from local spor#+
A
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tsmen and conservation groups, some founded primarily to preserve the canal.

The favorable respeanse at these public hearings led the Commission to Wash-
ington, D.C., in April 1953 to confer with federal agencies for approval for
a National Park or Memorial or public recreation area. Then the 69th General
Assembly memorialized Congress, requesting much the same and also asking that
it authorize the Corps to maintain the canal and lake in standby status until
a final disposition could be made.

In November 1954, the constitutional provision forbidding the use of State
funds in connection with the canal was removed by referendum. The Blue Ballot
of 1954 pavedcthe way for State ownership of the canal and lake.

At the same time the National Park Service concluded that the area did not
meet the scenic and historic requirements of a National Park or monument. Its
report, however, did recommend that the area be rehabilitated and transferzed
to the State as a recreation area.

In 1955 the Commission petitioned Congress with what they thought was a
compromise. They asked the federal government to replace thirty-two locks with
earthen filled dams and remove the bridges and aqueducts and secure free sim-
ple title (as opposed to the dubious flowate easements in effect) to land un-
der the lake. Then the State offered to lease the land from the federal gov-
ernment and pay for maintenance and recreational development.

To facilitate this compromise -- in its more refined version in which the
federal government would give, rather than lease, full title to the canal and
adjacent lands to the State -- in July 1955, Governor William Stratton signed’
House Bill 1202. This bill authorized the Departments of Conservation and Pub-
lic Works and Buildings to enter into negotiations with representatives of the
United States for accomplishing a title transfer after the Corps of Engineers
had rehabilitated the canal. The canal would then become a State Park. The
bill cleared the way, on the State's side, for a State Park -- a Hennepin
Canal Parkway -- under the Department of Conservation, but it was not the
final agreement for transfer. Federal legislation was still needed to author-
ize the rehabilitation and transfer. And the repairs and rehabilitation had
to be planned, financed, and accomplished before it could take place.

Bills providing for rehabilitation and transfer were introduced in 1955,
but no action was taken. Instead, the question of enlarging the canal and re-
opening it to navigation came up again. Traffic on the Upper Mississippi and
Illinois Rivers had increased and some local Illinois factions argued that a
canal short-cut between the two was again economically possible. Although the
Corps eventually rejected the request to re-survey for commercial purposes,
the discussion delayed Congressional action well into 1956.

In 1956 and 1957, a number of bills were introduced providing for the ca-
nal's rehabilitation and transfer. None, however, got on the floor for con-
sideration. As a result, they were included in large Omnibus Bills which Pres-
ident Eisenhower vetoed.

At last, the Omnibus Bill of 1958 which included provisions for the canal
passed and on July 3, 1958, President Eisenhower signed it into law as Public
Law 85-500. This act paved the way for transfer by 1) providing that the Corps
would get free and simple title to land under Lake Sinnissippi; 2) authorizing
the Corps to spend the $2,000,000 appropriation for repairs and modifications
to place the canal and lake in condition for use; 3) authorizing the State to
use a proper amount of water from the Rock River for the public recreation

facility:; and 4) authorizing the Corps to negotiate a transfer agreement with
the State.
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All that was needed after the passage of this bill was an agreement between
the State and the Corps as the representative of the United States. This agree-
ment itself, however, was contingent on an understanding about what repairs
and modifications -- within the $2,000,000 limit -- were necessary. Reaching
such an accord proved to be difficult. But in December 1960, the Commission
and the State of Illinois signed an agreement by which the Corps would begin
rehabilitation and repair work in accord with a mutually agreeable priority
schedule, but would stopwwhen the $2,000,000 ran out. All of the work was to
be completed by 1964. Once these repairs and modifications had been done, the
canal would be transferred to the State for use as a state park.

The first priority item was the repair and modification of Locks 14,17,18,
and 20. The Corps did not put these four locks on the eastern end of the main-
line back into working condition; instead, they removed the old gates and op-
erating machinery and put in a concrete headwall at the upper end of each lock
chamber to maintain five feet depth. They also replaced deteriorated cement.
The second priority item was the repair of the government dam and the naviga=
ble lock at the head of the feeder. These were to be followed by the rehabili-
tation of aqueducts and culverts and restoration of Locks 22, 23, and 24. The
Corps restored these three locks on the western end of the mainline to full
operating condition to accomodate recreational boat traffic which would use
the canal when it became a park.

The Corps began work in 1961. By the end of that year, they had completed
modification work on Locks 14, 17, 18, and 20. They had also repaired all but
one culvert, all the flushing wells on the feeder, and started work on the
restoration of Lock 22. However, at thesof 1961 work slowed down considerably.
The Corps began to complain that the State was not approving the completed
work and as a result they did not want to risk having to re-do it after the
$2,000,000 was spent. Clearly, the $2,000,000 was not enough. State officials
were unsucessfully seeking additonal funds.

Finally, in 1962 Congress enacted and approved Public Law 87-874 authoriz-
ing an additional $800,000 for rehabilitation with the stipulation that the
funds were to be spent before the State assumed ownership of the canal. As
welcome as_these additional funds were, both the Corps of Engineers and the.
Illinois-Mississippi Canal and Lake Sinnissippi Commission knew that at least
$10 000,000 would be necessary to satisfy the State's demands. The 1962 appro-
priation did little to expedite the work.

By 1963 with work still stalled, Governor Otto Kerner announced he had in-
terested the U.S. Department of the Interior in studying the canal and lake as
a possible national park séte. Simultaneously, the Illinois-Mississippi Canal
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and Lake Sinnissippi Commission recommended that the State accept less than
full title to the land under Lake Sinnissippi. If such an agreement were re-
ached, the Corps of Engineers would not have to continue delaying rehabilita-
tion work in order to hold funds for eventual purchase of the land. The State,
however, did not act on this suggestion.

Instead, in 1965 local citizens and newspapers in the Rock Island vicinity
began to campaign actively for enlargement of the canal so that it could a-
gain be used for commercial navigation. They argued that a new canal would
offer not only commercial possibilities for the area but also recreational
facilities as good as or better than the existing canal. Estimated cost of a
new canal was by then between $100,000,000 and $200,000,000. The Corps of
Engineers rejected the idea of a new survey for an enlarged Hennepin Canal.

In the same year, after Secretary of the Interior Udall made a personal
tour of the canal, the Department of the Interior recommended it as a park
but rejected it as a National Park.

Interest and action on the project lagged from 1965 until 1969. In 1969
state and federal representatives agreed on a final total of $6,328,000 for
rehabilitation work. This figure included the 1962 appropriation of $800,000
plus additional funds of $5,728,000. By this 1969 agreement the State of Illi-
nois also agreed to accept title to the canal before all the agreed upon re-
habilitation work was completed.

On Aagust 1, 1970, the State of Illinois accepted full title and ownership

of the Hennepin Canal with the stipulation that the federal government would
provide the additional $5,728,000. Since then, the State of Illinois had op-
erated the canal as the Hennepin Canal Parkway State Park. In the 1970's the
Corps of Engineers, using an additdonal federal appropriation secured in 1971,
and the Department of Conservation, using state funds, have continued restor-
ation and modification.

The Department of Conservation has developed specific recreational facili-
ties along the canal. A new visitor's center is open north of Sheffield on
the main line at Mile 22. Here there are boat launch and day use facilities
(picnic tables, toilets, and parking areag). Other day use facilities are
scattered along both the main line and the feeder. A second boating launching
ramp is accessible west of Wyanet in Mile 17 of the mainline. Boating is per-
mitted any place on the canal, but restricted to ten horsepower motors to
save the bank from wave wash. The Department has also facilitated fishing in
many ways, including the construction of a wheelchair fishing area at Lock 24.

The entire towpath is open to hiking and bicycling. Horse trails are also
open. A sixty mile snowmobile trail parallels the feeder from Rock Falls to
Mineral and then westward to Geneseo. Snowmobilers -- and trappers —-- must
register with park officials. There is no hunting at the Hennepin Canal.

The Department has designated that portion of the main line from Mile 13.8
to Mile 17.9 be maintained and developed as an interpretive area.

FOOTNOTES

lLetter, April 13, 1883, Galer to Bradsby, quoted in H.C. Bradsby, History
of Bureau County Illinois (Chicago: World Publishing Company, 1885), p.226.

“y.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Annual Report of the Chief of Engineers:
1887 (Washington: U.S. Government Printing Office, 1887), p.2144.

Letter, October 20, 1900, Sanitary District of Chicago to a Board of
United States Officers, quoted in Wilbert L. Bonney, "Descriptive and Histor-
ical Sketch of the Illinois and Mississippi Canal" unpublished report prepar--
ed for the Chief of Engineers, Rock Island,Illinois, 1908, p.9.
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10. Geographical Data

UTM References:

A.
B
ce
i
Bl
F.
G.

KMXsS<adasnxowoZ

AA.
BB.
cen
DD.
EE.

10"
‘7|l

52"
30"
20"

16/301,920 4572,840
16/301,440 4572,840
16/299,660 4575,100
16/298,740 4575,280
16/295,900 4573,890
16/295,450 4573,980
16/295,270 4574,500
16/293,920 4575,040
16/292,120 4574, 340
16/289,350 4577,300
16/288,050 4577,700
16/284,750 4580,900
16/283,100 4581, 300
16/282,850 4581,800
16/282,050 4582,300
16/281,300 4582,250
16/280,750 4583,125
16/280,750 4583,650
16/280,200 4583,950
16/279,825 4584,350
16/275,250 4584,325
16/274,100 4585,000
16/272,575 4586,450
16/271,250 4586,650
16,/270,690 4587,300
Lat. Long.
41° 24' 35" 89° 45
41° 24' 33" 89° 47'
41° 23' 42" 89° 48
41° 23°* 40" B89° 4¢9°
419 24' 7" 89° 51
41° 24' 10" 899 52!

3’7"
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UTM References
FF. 15/744,720 4592,480 Jao, - 417 44’ 53" g9 g7 58"
GG. 15/746,080 4593,130 KKK. 16/277,275 4627,700
HH. 15/749,760 4593,120 LLL. 16/277,350 4629,400
II. 15/739,400 4594,040
JJ. 15/738,670 4595,280
KK. 15/737,760 4595,900
LL. 15/736,300 4596,040
MM. 15/733,740 4595,450
NN. 15/732,780 4594,900
00. 15/731,660 4594,620
PP. 15/725,390 4594,860
Q0. 15/724,800 4595,610
RR. 15/723,050 4595,760
Ss. 15/721,500 4595,460
Tr. 15/721,140 4595,110
Uu. 15/717,870 4594,150
Lat. Long.
vv. 41° 25' 10" 89°947' 17"
ww. 41° 26' 20" 89° 47' 17"
XX. 412 26' 47" 890 46' 37"
YY. 41 27' 20" 89° 46' 40"
zz. 41° 29' 00" 89° 45' 25"
AAA. 41° 29' 35" 89° 45' 17"
BBB. 41° 31' 15" 898 46' 5"
ccc. 41° 34'.45" 89 45' 57"
ppp. 41° 35' 38" 89° a45' 30"
EEE. 41° 36' 53" 89° 45' 35"
FEFF. 419 37 13* 899 485" a3
Gee. 41° 40' 35" 89° 45' 23"
mHE. 41° 42' 37" 89° 44' 15"
ITI. 41° a24' 17" 89° 45' 47"
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THE TOPOGRAPHIC MAPS OF THE UNITED STATES

- The United States Geological Survey is making a series of
standard topographic maps to cover the United States. This
work has been in progress since 1882, and the published maps
cover more than 47 percent of the country, exclusive of outlying
possessions.

The maps are published on sheets that measure about 164 by
20 inches. Under the general plan adopted the country is
divided into quadrangles bounded by parallels of latitude and
- meridians of longitude. ~These quadrangles are mapped on
different scales, the scale selected for each map being that which
is best adapted to general use in the development of the country,
and consequently, though the standard maps are of nearly uni-
form size, the areas that they represent are of different sizes.
On the lower margin of each map are printed graphic scales
showing distances in feet, meters, miles, and kilometers. In
addition, the scale of the map is shown by a fraction expressing
a fixed ratio between linear measurements on the map and cor-
responding distances on the ground. For example, the scale
@ Means that 1 unit on the map (such as 1 inch, 1 foot, or 1
meter) represents 62,500 of the same units on the earth’s surface.

Although some areas are surveyed and some maps are com-
piled and published on special scales for special purposes, the
standard topographic surveys and the resulting maps have for
many years been of three types, differentiated as follows:

1. Surveys of areas in which there are problems of great
public importance—relating, for example, to mineral develop-
ment, irrigation, or reclamation of swamp areas—are made with
sufficient detail to be used in the publication of maps on a
scale of ;55 (1 inch=one-half mile) or 75 (1 inch=2,000 feet),
with a contour interval of 1 to 100 feet, according to the relief
of the particular area mapped.

2. Surveys of areas in which there are problems of average
public importance, such as most of the basin of the Mississippi
and its tributaries, are made with sufficient detail to be used in
the publication of maps on a scale of gz (1 inch=nearly ‘1
_ mile), with a contour interval of 10 to 100 feet.

3. Surveys of areas in which the problems are of minor
pubhc importance, such as much of the mountain or desert
region of Arizona or New Mexico, and the high mountain area
of the northwest, are made with sufficient detail to be used in
the publication of maps on a scale of z (1 inch=—nearly 2
miles) or g (1 mch—neally 4 miles), with a contour interval
of 20 to 250 feet.

The aerial camera is now being used in mapping. From the
information recorded on the photographs, planimetric maps,
which show only drainage and culture, have been made for some
‘areas in the United States. By the use of stereoscopic plotting
apparatus, aerial photographs are utilized also in the making of
the regular topographic maps, which show relief as well as
drainage and culture.

A topographic survey of Alaska has been in progress since
1898, and nearly 44 percent of its area has now been mapped.
About 15 percent of the Territory has been covered by maps
on a scale of oy (1 inch=nearly 8 miles). For most of the

- remainder of the area surveyed the maps published are on a
scale of sy (1 inch=nearly 4 miles). For some areas of par-
ticular economic importance, covering about 4,300 square miles,
the maps published are on a scale of 55 (1 inch==nearly 1 mile)
or larger. In addition to the area covered by topographic maps,
about 11,300 square miles. of southeastern Alaska has been
covered by planimetric maps on scales of mg and .

The Hawaiian Islands have been surveyed, and the resulting
maps are published on a scale of 4.

A survey of Puelto‘Rico is now in progress. The scale of
the published maps is g5

The features shown on topogra,phlc maps may be arranged in
three groups— (1) water, including seas, lakes, rivers, canals,
swamps, and other bodies of water; (2) relief, including
mountains, hills, valleys, and other features of the land surface;
(8) culture (works of man), such as towns, cities, roads, rail-
roads, and boundaries, The symbols used to represent these
features are shown and explained below. Variations appear on
some earlier maps, and additional features are represented on
some special maps.

All the water features are represented in blue, the smaller
streans and canals by single blue lines and the larger streams
by double lines. The larger streams, lakes, and the sea are.
accentuated by blue water lining or blue tint. Intermittent
streams—those whose beds are dry for a large part of the year—
are shown by lines of blue dots and dashes.

Relief. is shown by contour lines in brown, which on a few
maps are supplemented by shading showing the effect of light

thrown from the northwest across the area represented, for the -

purpose of giving the appearance of relief and thus aiding in
the interpretation of the contour lines. A contour line repre-
sents an imaginary line on the ground (a contour) every part
of which is at the same altitude above sea level. Such a line
could be drawn at any altitude, but in practice only the con-
tours at certain regular intervals of altitude are shown. The
datum or zero of altitude of the Geological Survey maps is mean
sea level. The 20-foot contour would be the shore line if the
sea should rise 20 feet above mean sea level. Contour lines
show the shape of the hills, mountains, and valleys, as well as
their altitude. Successive contour lines that are far apart on
the map indicate a gentle slope, lines that are close together
indicate a steep slope, and lines that run together indicate a
cliff. ‘ :

The manner in which contour lines express altitude, form,
and grade is shown in the figure below.

The sketch represents a river valley that lies between two
hills, In the foreground is the sea, with a bay that is partly
enclosed by a hooked sand bar. On each side of the valley is
a terrace into which small streams have cut narrow gullies.
The hill on the right has a rounded summit and gently slop-

STANDARD SYMBOLS

. .CULTURE

ing gpurs separated by ravines. The<-spurs are truncated at
their lower ends by a sea clifft. The hill at the left terminates
abruptly at the valley in a steep scarp, from which it slopes
gradually away and forms an inclined tableland that is trav-
ersed by a few shallow gullies. On the map each of these
features is represented, directly beneath its position in the
sketch, by contour lines.

The contour interval, or the vertical distance in feet between
one contour and the next, is stated at the bottom of each map.
This interval differs according to the topography of the area
mapped: in a flat country it may be as small as 1 foot; in a
mountainous region it may be as great as 250 feet. In order
that the contours may be read more easily certain contour lines,
every fourth or fifth, are made heavier than the others and are
accompanied by figures showing altitude. The heights of many
points—such as road intersections, summits, surfaces of lakes,
and benchmarks—are also given on the map in figures, which
show altitudes to the nearest foot only. More precise figures
for the altitudes of benchmarks are given in the Geological Sur-
vey’s bulletins on spirit leveling. The geodetic coordinates of
triangulation and transit-traverse stations are also published in
bulletins.

Lettering and the works of man are shown in black. Bound-
aries, such as those of a State, county, city, land grant, town-
ship, or reservation, are shown by continuous or broken lines of
different kinds and weights. Public roads suitable for motor
travel the greater part of the year are shown by solid double
lines; poor public roads and private roads by dashed double
lines; trails by dashed single lines. Additional public road
classification if available is shown by red overprint.

Each quadrangle is designated by the name of a city, town,
or prominent natural feature within it, and on the margins of
the map are printed the names of adjoining quadrangles of
which maps have been published. More than 4,100 quad-
rangles in the United States have been surveyed, and maps of
them similar to the one on the other side of this sheet have
been published.

Geologic maps of some of the areas shown on the topographic
maps have been published in the form of folios. Each folio
includes maps showing the topography, geology, underground
structure, and mineral deposits of the area mapped, and several
pages of descriptive text. The. text explains the maps and
describes the topographic and geologic features of the country
and its mineral products. Two hundred twenty-five folios have
been published.

Index maps of each State and of Alaska and Hawaii showing
the areas covered by topographic maps and geologic folios pub-
lished by the United States Geological Survey may be obtained
free. Copies of the standard topographic maps may be obtained
for 10 cents each; some special maps are sold at different prices.
A discount of 40 percent is allowed on an order amounting to
$5 or more at the retail price. The discount is allowed on an
order for maps alone, either of one kind or in any assortment,
or for maps together with geologic folios. The geologic folios
are sold for 25 cents or more each, the price depending on the
size of the folio. A circular describing the folios will be sent
on request.

Applications for maps or folios should be accompanied by
cash, draft, or money order (not postage stamps) and should be
addressed to

THE DIRECTOR,
United States Geological Survey,

November 1937. Washington, D. C.

NOTE:—Effective on and after October 1, 1946, the price of standard topographic
quadrangle maps will be 20 cents each, with a discount of 20 percent on orders
amounting to $10 or more at the retail rate.
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STATE OF ILLINOIS

DEPARTMENT OF CONSERVATION

OFFICE MEMORANDUM

Te: Ann Manuel

From: Mary Yeater

Date: 9 March 1978

supJect: Hennepin Canal -- National Register Application

The nomination covers the dam across the Rock River at Rcocck Falls,
the entire feeder canal, the mainline between Lock 2 and Lock 29 where
the canal joins the Rock River just west of Colona.

The are4of the mainline between the Illinois River and Lock 2 was not
included because Lock 1 is underwater. It was submerged when the Illinois
River was improved over 50 years ago. For the 8 miles between Colona and
Milan(where the mainliné flows in the Rock River channel)you can't tell
canal from river. It just looks like river. The area from Milan west to

the Mississippi -- a little over 4 miles in which there are one steel damn,
three locks, one historically significant highway bridge, one original
railroad bridge and the old Milan boatya¥ds -- was excluded because of

management problems. I am asking Don Siweck, as Site Superintendent, to
explain that decision since it is really his ballywick not mine.

The only right-of-way not nominated surrounds the Milan to Mississippi
section of the canal and the Illinois to Lock 2 secticn. There is not
right-of-way along the Rock River section. I separated acres of water from
acres of land, maybe that accounts for the guestion about acerage.

I intended the bridges, their approaches and all attcndent features to
be nominated. A new bridge statement is on its way to Ted.

Enclosed is the 1934 Corps map I mentioned. Maybe you could get

~ something that woudl be more what you neesd from Don Siweck, or Dick Lutz
in Site Planning or Don Kochevar in Engineering. They all use and have
developed various types of sheet maps of the whole canal -- manx?%hich

are much more detailed than this.

enclosures: (2)
cc: Campbell
Siweck

Frpaetes,

(36005-50M—11-71)



llinois
Department of

Conservation
life ond land fogether

to: Ann Manuel ' : “*%ﬁq

oA Don Siweck 4 . L &

date:  March 16, 1978

subject: Hennepin Canal - National Register Nomination _iyﬂ;
& »7-»(,; '\h’\, O
As per Mary Yeater's memo of March 9, 1278, I have been requested to

respond to the question of '"why we didn't nominate the entire canal?¥

In reviewing the'areas for nomination, the area west from Lock 29 was
excluded because of the following reasons:

1. Approximately 7 miles of canal is within the Rock River and
we do not have definite legal boundries. The Corps could use
and claim a navigable waterway but what are our restrictions?
What useful purpose could we achieve? There are no structures
in this section of river.

2. 1In order to have water west from Lock 30 flash boards would
have to be installed on the steel dam 2t Milan  These flash
boards would have to be maintained, also a lcot of debris and
silt would have to be removed upstream from Lock 30

3. Presently we are uegotiating with varicus governmental agencies
“for this section to be iwplemented into a flood control project.

4. Several arcas have been disturbed with a railrozd bridge being
removed and replaced with a culvert. Another culvert was
place at the Route 199 canal crossing. These two culverts
disrupt any type of trail activity.

5. Questions concerning our legal right-of-way boundries.

These were the prime reasons for our excluding this portion from the
nomination. If we can be of further assistance please advise.

DRS/jd

cc: Schaefer
Campbell
Yeater

File



ENTRIES IN THE NATIONAL RFGISTER

STATE ILLINNIS
Date Entered MAY 221978
Nane : Location
Roy, John, Site . Adazs County
Chiristian Hill Historic District . Alton
: Madison County
( Hennepin Canal Historic District Hennepin vicinity
S A Burcau, Henry and Whiteside
Counties

|
£ Also Notified
f Honorable Adlai E. Stevenson

Honorable Charles H. Percy ; State Historlc Preservation Officer
Honorable Faul Findley . Mr. David Kenney
Honorable Robert H. Michel w.n. .. Director, Department of Comservatio:

Honorable Tom Railsback .,iZQi:ﬁl;ﬁif:'-,ﬁoz State Office 3uilding
: : I : 400 South Spring Street
NR Mott/bjr 5/31/78 Springfield, Illinois 62706



lllinois Department of Conservation
life and land together

605 STATE OFFICE BUILDING « 400 SOUTH SPRING STREET « SPRINGFIELD 62706
CHICAGO OFFICE — ROOM 100, 160 NO. LASALLE 60601

David Kenney, Director e James C. Helfrich, Assistant Director

March 29, 1978

Mr. Bruce Mac Dougal

National Register of Historic Places

Office of Archaeology and Historic
Preservation

Heritage Conservation and Recreation
Service

Washington, D.C. 20240

Dear Bruce:

Please find enclosed the information you requested concerning
the Hennepin Canal Historic District in Illinois.

I hope this is what you require. If not, please do not hesitate
to contact me.

Sincerely,

-

Anne E. Manuell
Cultural Resources Assistant

AEM/j1

Enclosures






PHO507121

NATIONAL REGISTER DATA SHEET

())NAME as it appears on federal register: (2)OTHER NAMES: (@)date of entry: | (g)county code:
Hennepin Canal HistoricDistrict Illinois and Mississij
@LOCATION street & number city / town vieinity of
Hennepin vic. W to Moline then N to (wver) Hennepin
@) ownER CIPRIVATE GOSTATE CIMUNICIPAL [JCOUNTY CIMULTIPLE CDFEDERAL(agency name) § : ® ApmINISTRATOR:

[ FEDERAL

G STATE
if state who prepared form?

@) EXISTING SURVEYS [JHABS CIHAER DNHLI®FUNDED? Oyes Ono l@concm:ss, DISTRICT 18th a®souRCE of NOMINATION

ClrocAL  CIPRIVATE ORGANIZATION

@CONDITION Ddeteriorated Daltered Ooriginal site |@features: o CISUBSTANTIALLY INTACT-1 o CISUBSTANTIALLY INTACT-2 & CISUBSTANTIALLY INTACT-3
Uexcellent (QOruins Ounaltered Omoved gouol INTACT-O gD NOT INTACT-O OONOT INTACT - O
Dgo?d Qunexposed Oreconstructed DOunknown WO UNKNOWN -4 WO UNKNOWN -5 SO UNKNOWN -6
Dfair Dunexcavated Oexcavated Z[JNOT APPLICABLE-7 WO NOT APPLICABLE-8 Z O NOT APPLICABLE- 9

@ACCESS [OYES-Restricted []YES -Unrestricted [JNo Access [J]Unknown [@ADAPHVE use OJYES DHOI@ SAVED? [J YES ] IS PROPERTY A HISTORIC DISTRICT? Jyes[Ino

€) AREAS OF SIGNIFICANCE : D ENGINEERING =11 T3 LANDSCAPE ARCH.= 15  [JPOLITICS/ GOVT.* 21 CJ RECREATION -28 ’@fCLA}MS explain

CJARCHEOLOGY = prehistoric=2  [J COMMERCE =6 CJENTERTAINMENT-26 3 LAW=16 [J RELIGION=22 [ SETTLEMENT=29 ray’0
CJ ARCHEOLOGY = historic-1 O COMMUNICATIONS -7 CJEXPLORATION =12 3 LITERATURE=17 O SCIENCE= 23 CIURBAN PLANNING-31 | «gldest’ O
O AGRICULTURE =3 O CONSERVATION=8  [J HEALTH=27 O3 MILITARY - 18 [ SOCIAL/HUMANITARIAN=24 [ OTHER (SPECIFY)
OJ ARCHITECTURE -4 O ECONOMICS -9 O INDUSTRY-13 O MusIc= 19 3 SOCIAL / CULTURAL-30 o iy ‘only’ O
O ART=5 OJ EDUCATION=10 O INVENTION =14 D PHILOSOPHY = 20 [ TRANSPORTATION-25
- s 2 ETHNIC GROUP
@functlons @dates of initial construction: ASSOCIATION
WHEN HISTORICALLY SIGNIFICANT: major alterations :
CURRENTLY: historic events:
@architectural style(s): J@architeet: @master builder: @engineer:
@h.ndscape architect /s garden designer: @interior decorator: @ artist: @artisan: @bui Ider/contractor:

@NAMES give role & date
PERSONAL:

EVENTS ¢

INSTITUTIONAL:

S@NATIONAL REGISTER WRITE-UP

B reviewers initials date R |- ADDITIONAL SPACE NEEDED, NUMBERE PUT ON REVERSE

-




5. Rock Falls vicinity

11. 19th
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' Public Notice

US Army Corps
of Engineers Applicant: City of Rock Falls Date: December 21, 1987
Rock Island District Expires: January 10, 1988

Public Notice No: CENCR-159800 Section: 10/404

Joint Public Notice
US Army Corps of Engineers
Illinois Envirommental Protection Agency
Illinois Department of Transportation/Division of Water Resources

1% General Information,

a. Applicant. City of Rock Falls, 603 West 10th Street, Rock Falls,
Illinois 61071.

b. Project Location. The project is located at the mouth of the
Hennepin Feeder Canal in Section 22, Township 21 North, Range 7 East, in
Rock Falls, Whiteside County, Illinois.

Qe Project Description. The applicant proposes to construct a
concrete boat ramp, two floating boat docks and a buoyed safety cable.

e (1) The double lane boat ramp will be 29.5 feet wide and be about
90 feet long. The ramp will require placing approximately 200 cubic yards of
rock riprap and 2000 cubic yards of coarse aggregate. There will also be 2000
cubic yards of earthen material excavated and disposed of in an upland non
wetland site.

(2) The two floating boat docks will be approximately 20-foot by
4-foot and connected together., The docks will be floated using styrofoam and
attached to shore.

(3) The buoyed safety cable will be used to protect boaters from
the gates on the upper dam of the Rock River. The cable will be attached to
shore on one side and to a pier on the other side.

d. Project Plans. The applicant's plans have been reproduced on the
attached sheet(s).

2 Agency Review and Where to Reply.

a. Department of the Army, Corps of Engineers. The Department of the

Army application is being processed under the provisions of Section 10 of the
Rivers and Harbors Act of 1899 (33 U.S.C. 403) and Section 404 of the Clean
Water Act (33 U.S.C. 1344). Comments concerning the Corps permit should be
addressed to the District Engineer, US Army Corps of Engineers, Rock Island
District, Clock Tower Building - Post Office Box 2004, Rock Island, Illinois
61204-2004. Mr. Leo Foley (309/788-6361, extension 379) may be contacted for
additional information.



b. State of Illinois

(1) The project plans have been submitted to the Illinois
Environmental Protection Agency (IEPA) for state certification of the proposed
work in accordance with Section 401 of the Clean Water Act. The
certification, if issued, will express the Agency's opinion that the proposed
activities will not violate applicable water quality standards. Written
comments concerning possible impacts to waters of Illinois should be addressed
to: Illinois Enviromnmental Protection Agency, Division of Water Pollution
Control, Permit Section, 2200 Churchill Road, Springfield, Illinois 62706,
with copy provided to the Corps of Engineers (see paragraph 2.a. of this
public notice for address).

(2) The Illinois Department of Transportation, Division of Water
Resources (IDOT/DWR), application is being processed pursuant to an Act in
Relation to the Regulation of the Rivers, Lakes and Streams of the State of
I1linois (I.R.S., Chapter 19, par. 52 et seq.). Comments concerning the
IDOT/DWR permit should be addressed to the Illinois Department of
Transportation, Division of Water Resources, 201 West Center Court,
Schaumburg, Illinois 60196, with a copy provided to the Corps of Engineers,
(see paragraph 2.a. of this public notice for address). Mr. Gary Jereb
(312/705-4341) may be contacted for additional information.

3+~ "Historical/Archaeological. The entire Illinois and Mississippi Canal\\\
 (also called Hennepin Canal) is listed in the National Register of Historic
Places as an historic district (22 May 1978). All permit requests for work |
that will affect this property will be coordinated by the Rock Island District
with the Illinois State Historic Preservation Officer and the Advisory Council
on Historic Preservation, Washington, DC. No action will be taken in the '
historic district boundaries until the coordination with the above named &
agencies has been completed. The canal is the property of the State of 4
“Illinois. ,f////

LT

4, Endangered-Species.—Preliminary review by District staff indicates that
the proposed activity is not likely to jeopardize the continued existence of
any species or the critical habitat of any fish and wildlife, or plant which
is designated as endangered or threatened pursuant to the Endangered Species.
Act of 1973 as amended (16 U.S.C. 1531 et seq.). Therefore, no formal
consultation request has been made to the United States Department of the
Interior, Fish and Wildlife Service.

I Dredge/Fill Material Guidelines. The evaluation of the impact of the
proposed activity on the public interest will also include application of the
guidelines promulgated by the Administrator of the United States Envirommental
Protection Agency under authority of Section 404(b) of the Clean Water Act

(40 CFR Part 230).



b Public Interest Review. The decision whether to issue the Corps permit
will be based on an evaluation of the probable impact including cumulative
impacts of the proposed activity on the public interest., That decision will
reflect the national concern for both protection and utilization of important
resources. The benefit which reasonably may be expected to accrue from the
proposal must be balanced against its reasonably foreseeable detriments. All
factors which may be relevant to the proposal will be considered including the
cumulative effects thereof; among those are conservation, economics,
aesthetics, general envirommental concerns, wetlands, cultural values, fish
and wildlife values, flood hazards, floodplain values, land use, navigation,
shoreline erosion and accretion, recreation, water supply and conservation,
water quality, energy needs, safety, food production and, in general, the
needs and welfare of the people.

Tts Who Should Reply. Any interested parties, particularly navigation
interests, Federal and state agencies for the protection of fish and wildlife,
and the officials of any state, town, or local association whose interests may
be affected by the proposed work, are invited to submit to this office within
21 days from the date of this notice written statements of facts, arguments,
or objections thereto. These statements should bear upon the adequacy of
plans and suitability of locations and should, if appropriate, suggest any
changes considered desirable.

8. Public Hearing Requests. Any person may request, in writing, within the
comment period specified in this notice, that a public hearing be held to
consider this application. Requests for public hearings shall state, with
particularity, the reasons for holding a public hearing. A request may be
denied if substantive reasons for holding a hearing are not provided.

FOR THE COMMANDER:

)
4 OW@\,‘_\ PE .
JAMES Y. BLANCHAR, P.E.
“Acti Chief, Operations Division

At tach
Plan

NOTICE TO POSTMASTERS:

It is requested that this notice be conspicuously and continuously posted for
21 days from the date of issuance of this notice.
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LIST OF ADJACENT PROPERTY OWNERS

NO.
i)

3.
4.

NAME
City of Rock Falls, IL.

John Lawrence

I11. D.0.C.

ADDRESS
603 W. 10th St.
Rock Falls, IL 61071
1906 Avenue E
Sterling, IL 61081
2612 Locust St.
Sterling, IL 61081

PROJECT DESCRIPTION:

DOUBLE LANE
BOAT RAMP

L8CAT|ON:

OLOMA TWN.
"PARK DISTRICT

[ROCKFALLS.ILL.

NCR FORM 427

o1

JUNE 81

CORPS OF ENGINEERS COPY

SHEET 1 OF3

159800
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4) PRINT "More polygons in more than one zone"
More polygons in more than one zone
SLINE REFNUM

00001128
66000036
69000270
71000971
72000757
73000839
74000772
74002072
78000425
10 78003433
11 80004426
12 80004445
13 80004446
14 82004040
15 82004519
16 84001629
17 85002914
18 85003195
19 88002739
20 89001990
21 950002174
22 91000334
23 97001394
24 58001228
25 99001244

VWoOoOJoauUuTdkd WM

25 lines printed.



